

# Echinoderms: Focus on the Sea Urchin Model in Cellular and Developmental Biology

Florian Pontheaux, Fernando Roch, Julia Morales, Patrick Cormier

# ▶ To cite this version:

Florian Pontheaux, Fernando Roch, Julia Morales, Patrick Cormier. Echinoderms: Focus on the Sea Urchin Model in Cellular and Developmental Biology. Boutet, A. & B. Schierwater, eds. Handbook of Established and Emerging Marine Model Organisms in Experimental Biology, 307-333, CRC Press, 2021, 10.1201/9781003217503-17. hal-03403695

# HAL Id: hal-03403695 https://hal.science/hal-03403695

Submitted on 29 Oct 2022

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

# 17 Echinoderms Focus on the Sea Urchin Model in Cellular and Developmental Biology

Florian Pontheaux, Fernando Roch, Julia Morales and Patrick Cormier

#### **CONTENTS**

17.1	Historical Contributions of Sea Urchin Gametes and Embryos				
	17.1.1	How Did the Optical Transparency of Sea Urchin Eggs Foster Significant Advances in			
		the Understanding of Fertilization?	307		
	17.1.2	Sea Urchin's Contribution to Our Understanding of the Role Played by Calcium Signalling during			
		Fertilization	309		
	17.1.3	Sea Urchin Egg Abundance and Synchronous Early Embryonic Development Are Optimal for			
		Biochemistry and Cell Biology Analyses	309		
	17.1.4	Embryonic and Larval Development of the Sea Urchin in the Age of Molecular Biology	310		
17.2	2 Echinoderm Phylogeny				
17.3	Geographical Location of Echinoderms				
17.4	Sea Urchin Life Cycle				
17.5	5 Sea Urchin Embryogenesis				
17.6	Anatomy of the Adult Sea Urchin				
17.7	Genomic Data of Echinoderms				
17.8	Functional Approaches: Tools for Molecular and Cellular Analyses				
17.9	Challenging Questions				
Ackn	Acknowledgements and Funding				
Bibliography					

# 17.1 HISTORICAL CONTRIBUTIONS OF SEA URCHIN GAMETES AND EMBRYOS

Sea urchins, and in particular their gametes, have been an important experimental model since the end of the 19th century and throughout the 20th century (reviewed in Monroy 1986; Briggs and Wessel 2006; Pederson 2006; Hamdoun et al. 2018). From Aristotle's description of sea urchins' feeding apparatus (350 BCE) to the genome sequencing of *Strongylocentrotus purpuratus* in the 21st century, echinoderms on many occasions have been the involuntary protagonists of the history of science (Sodergren et al. 2006; Pederson 2006). Indeed, as we will discuss in detail in the following sections, sea urchins have played a paramount role in the fields of embryology and cell biology (Pederson 2006; Briggs and Wessel 2006).

# 17.1.1 HOW DID THE OPTICAL TRANSPARENCY OF SEA URCHIN EGGS FOSTER SIGNIFICANT ADVANCES IN THE UNDERSTANDING OF FERTILIZATION?

As early as 1840, Derbès, like Dufossé or von Baër, was probably seduced by the transparency of the sea urchin egg, which makes these animals an excellent experimental model system for the study of fertilization (Derbès 1847).

Sea urchins are gonochoric, and their gametes can be easily obtained in large quantities: a single female can produce millions of eggs, and males release an even greater quantity of functional gametes. In addition, both eggs and sperm are immediately competent to accomplish fertilization without any complementary maturation. Consequently, the simple mixing of sperm and eggs initiates fertilization and development, which take place externally. Using this material, Derbès was able to produce accurate descriptions of fertilization, holoblastic radial cleavages and larval development. The size of the sea urchin eggs ( $\approx 100 \,\mu\text{m}$  diameter, see Table 17.1) and the optical characteristics of their oligolecithal cytoplasm make them a valuable system for manipulation, microinjection and observation under optical microscopy (Angione et al. 2015; Stepicheva and Song 2014). Derbès was the first scientist to hypothesize the existence of a transparent layer surrounding the unfertilized eggs: the egg-jelly. However, he did not properly grasp the importance of this protective coat, as he suggested that it was dispensable for fertilization (Briggs and Wessel 2006). We now know that this glycoprotein meshwork has several functions, which include attracting and activating the sperm and providing a carbohydrate-based mechanism to allow species-specific recognition (Vilela-silva et al. 2008). In fact, jelly layers

secrete chemo-attractants that drive sperm swimming, and more than 100 sperm-activating peptides have been identified in the egg-jelly of various sea urchin species (Darszon et al. 2005).

Two of these peptides are known as Resact, isolated from Arbacia punctulata, and Speract, purified from Strongylocentrotus purpuratus. They bind to their respective receptors that are placed on the sperm's outer membrane and trigger changes in sperm metabolism and motility by regulating its membrane potential (Darszon et al. 2005). Sperm swimming toward the egg is controlled by flagellar curvature modifications, which depend on oscillations in the intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  concentration  $[Ca^{2+}]_i$  (Böhmer et al. 2005). The egg-jelly is also responsible for the induction of the acrosome reaction of the sperm (Santella et al. 2012). In S. purpuratus, fucose-sulfate polymers are the jelly-coat specific components prompting acrosome reaction (SeGall and Lennarz 1979), a process that can be separated in consecutive phases (Vacquier 2012). First, the outer acrosomal membrane fuses with the plasma membrane of the sperm head, triggering actin polymerization. Then, the acrosomal vesicle releases its contents. Finally, the Bindin protein present on the acrosomal membrane is exposed to the egg surface. The acrosome reaction is essential for fertilization and ensures that it only occurs between gametes of homologous species. Fucose-sulfate polymers are central components of the egg-jelly, and their diversity seems to confer specificity to egg and sperm interactions (Pomin 2015).

The most remarkable and accurate observations of Derbès concern the establishment of the fertilization envelope. He documented the effects elicited by sperm on the egg for the first time, including the separation of the vitelline membrane from the egg plasma membrane. He interpreted the formation of this fertilization envelope as a landmark of fertilization (Derbès 1847), and high school, community college and university practical courses still use fertilization envelope elevation as the first visible sign of sperm-mediated egg activation (Vacquier 2011). Ernest Everett Just proposed that fertilization envelope elevation occurs within one minute after sperm-egg fusion and acts as a mechanical block to polyspermy (Just 1919) (reviewed in Byrnes and Newman 2014). E. E. Just was an African American cell biologist and embryologist of international renown who can be considered an early ecological developmental biologist (Just 1939) (reviewed in Byrnes and Eckberg 2006). Fertilization envelope elevation is accomplished by the cortical granule reaction occurring at the egg's surface. Several organelles are present on the cortex of unfertilized eggs, including cortical granules (Vacquier 1975), acidic vesicles (Sardet 1984; Morgan 2011) and endoplasmic reticulum (Sardet 1984). Cortical granules, about 1 µm in diameter, are especially abundant and are present immediately beneath the cytoplasmic membrane. Following sperm entry, their content is released into the space between the cell membrane and the structured mesh of proteins that forms the vitelline envelope. This exocytosis process releases several biological compounds. A trypsin-like protease called cortical granule serine-protease digests the proteins linking the cell membrane to the vitelline membrane and degrades the Bindin receptors, immediately removing any sperm (Haley and Wessel 1999). However, the cortical granules also release mucopolysaccharides, highly hydrophilic compounds generating an osmotic gradient that pumps water into the space between the cell membrane and the vitelline membrane, which swells and detaches from the egg (reviewed in the textbook Gilbert 2006). Finally, a peroxidase enzyme present in the cortical granules hardens the fertilization envelope by crosslinking the tyrosine residues of neighbouring proteins (Foerder and Shapiro 1977; Wong et al. 2004).

In 1876, Oskar Hertwig published the first observations indicating that only one sperm enters the egg during fertilization (Hertwig 1876; Fol 1879). Using the Mediterranean sea urchin Paracentrotus lividus (named at the time Toxopneustes lividus), he was also the first to observe the fusion of egg and sperm pronuclei (Hertwig 1876; Clift and Schuh 2013). Three years later, Hermann Fol further characterized the mechanism of sperm entry and made similar observations, primarily the gametes from the starfish Marthasterias glacialis (named at the time Asterias glacialis) and to a lesser extent Paracentrotus lividus (Fol 1879). Ever since, technical developments in optical microscopy have made it possible to refine these observations, and ultimately electron microscopy has enabled ultrastructural investigation of sea urchin fertilization. The surface of the fertilized egg changes abruptly during cortical granule exocytosis. Two minutes after insemination, actin filaments assemble and participate in the formation of the so-called fertilization cone (Tilney and Jaffe 1980). In Arbacia punctulata, the sperm passes through this structure, makes a 180° U-turn and comes to rest lateral to its penetration site (Longo and Anderson 1968). This process has been carefully documented using scanning electron microscopy (Schatten and Mazia 1976). The male pronucleus and its centriole separate from the mitochondria and flagellum, which then disassemble in the cytoplasm. According to Monroy (Monroy 1986), Friedrich Meves was the first to observe that sperm mitochondria do not proliferate in the egg, leading him to propose that embryonic mitochondria have a maternal origin (Meves 1912). After mitochondria and flagellum dissolution, the centriole localizes between the male pronucleus and the egg pronucleus. This centriole extends its microtubules to form an aster so that the two pronuclei migrate toward each other and occupy a central position in the egg, where karyogamy proceeds. DNA synthesis can occur during the migration of the two pronuclei or after their fusion into the zygote nucleus (Gilbert 2006). Centrosome inheritance in echinoderms is exclusively paternal (Zhang et al. 2004). The two sperm centrioles duplicate concomitantly with DNA synthesis and end up producing the centrosomes that will steer embryonic development (Longo and Plunkett 1973; Sluder 2016).

Embryonic development proceeds normally only if a single sperm enters the egg. Fertilization by two sperms leads to a triploid nucleus, where each sperm's centriole divides independently to form four centrosomes. Theodor Boveri already observed in 1902 that dispermic sea urchin eggs develop abnormally or die, and based on these observations, he was the first scientist to speculate that malignant tumours could be the consequence of an abnormal chromosome constitution (Boveri 1902, translated in Boveri 2008; Maderspacher 2008; Scheer 2018). His contributions to the elucidation of the role played by chromosomes as the vectors of the genetic inheritance are widely acknowledged among cell biologists.

# 17.1.2 SEA URCHIN'S CONTRIBUTION TO OUR UNDERSTANDING OF THE ROLE PLAYED BY CALCIUM SIGNALLING DURING FERTILIZATION

The term "egg activation" designates the multiple changesboth biochemical and morphological-that transform the egg cytoplasm after sperm penetration and prepare the cell for mitosis. In sea urchins, egg meiotic maturation occurs in the female gonads before gamete spawning. Thus, the activation of the sea urchin egg, which already possesses a haploid pronucleus, is independent of meiotic maturation. The events triggered by the activation of the sea urchin egg can be classified as early responses, occurring within seconds, and late responses, taking place several minutes after fertilization (Allen and Griffin 1958; Gilbert 2006). The early responses include the fast block of polyspermy and the exocytosis of the cortical granules. Among the late responses, we can cite the activation of mRNA translation and the duplication of DNA. Strikingly, all these events can occur independently of fertilization and are also triggered by artificial activation or parthenogenesis, which was discovered in the sea urchin by Jacques Loeb (Loeb 1899; Monroy 1986). Analyzing the effect of ions on the sea urchin egg, he observed that a treatment with a hypertonic solution of MgCl<sub>2</sub> provokes the elevation of the fertilization envelope (Loeb 1899). As Monroy points out (Monroy 1986), Loeb's work prompted Otto Heinrich Warburg to use sea urchins to develop his work on oxygen consumption in living cells (Warburg 1908). He observed that the fertilization of sea urchin eggs resulted in a rapid and nearly six-fold increase in oxygen consumption. Refining this observation to the metabolic abnormalities of cancer cells, Warburg was awarded the Nobel Prize in 1931 for his discovery of the "nature and mode of action of the respiratory enzyme". In the context of fertilization, a specific NADPH oxidase of the egg's surface uses oxygen and produces a burst of hydrogen peroxide (Wong et al. 2004; Finkel 2011). Rather than damaging the egg, the hydrogen peroxide hardens the fertilization envelope and contributes to blocking polyspermy. H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> is produced by a Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent mechanism that involves the reduction of one molecule of oxygen and the oxidation of two proton donors. Parthenogenetic activation by A23187 ionophore is sufficient to trigger this oxidative burst by using free cytosolic calcium (Wong et al. 2004).

The hypothesis of  $Ca^{2+}$  release following sea urchin fertilization was first proposed in the mid-20th century (Mazia 1937). The  $Ca^{2+}$  ion is essential for egg activation in all metazoans but more specifically in marine invertebrate

deuterostomes, which has been extensively discussed (Runft et al. 2002; Whitaker 2006; Ramos and Wessel 2013; Costache et al. 2014; Swann and Lai 2016). Calcium release triggered by fertilization or ionophore treatment was first demonstrated in sea urchin eggs using the luminescent calcium sensor aequorin (Steinhardt and Epel 1974; Steinhardt et al. 1977). Two independent types of Ca<sup>2+</sup> waves have been observed following fertilization in sea urchins. The first one, a small initial cortical flash, results from an action potentialmediated influx of extracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup>. A second cytosolic wave, due to the release of Ca<sup>2+</sup> from the intracellular stores, begins at the sperm entry point and travels throughout the cytoplasm to encompass the entire egg (Parrington et al

cytoplasm to encompass the entire egg (Parrington et al. 2007; Whitaker and Steinhardt 1982). The initial cortical flash does not automatically provoke the second  $Ca^{2+}$  wave, which is a distinct process exclusively triggered by sperm arrival. Notably, fertilization elicits a single  $Ca^{2+}$  wave in the sea urchin, whereas it provokes multiple  $Ca^{2+}$  oscillations in ascidians and mammals (Whitaker 2006; Sardet et al. 1998; Dupont and Dumollard 2004).

Research into the mechanisms triggering the calcium wave in sea urchins has given rise to abundant literature (reviewed in Ramos and Wessel 2013). Just after fertilization, the Ca<sup>2+</sup> rise occurs as a result of inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate (IP3)-mediated release of Ca<sup>2+</sup> from the endoplasmic reticulum (Terasaki and Sardet 1991). Other intracellular second messengers, including nicotinic acid adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NAADP), cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP), cyclic ADP-ribose (cADPR) and nitric oxide (NO), were shown to increase at fertilization and could trigger Ca<sup>2+</sup> release (Kuroda et al. 2001). However, in contrast to IP3, none of these second messengers is indispensable to the fertilization wave in the sea urchin egg.

# 17.1.3 SEA URCHIN EGG ABUNDANCE AND SYNCHRONOUS EARLY EMBRYONIC DEVELOPMENT ARE OPTIMAL FOR BIOCHEMISTRY AND CELL BIOLOGY ANALYSES

Unfertilized sea urchin eggs are physiologically blocked at the G1 stage of the cell cycle. Fertilization thus triggers entry into the S-phase and completion of the first mitotic division. Thanks to the large number of cells that can be recovered from a single female and their embryonic mitotic division synchronicity, these gametes have been crucial for the development of biochemical approaches studying cell cycle progression and protein translation (Evans et al. 1983; Humphreys 1969).

Unravelling the mechanisms controlling protein synthesis has been a central area of research in the 20th century (Thieffry and Burian 1996). In the 1940s, it was generally admitted that thymonucleic acid (DNA) existed only in animals and zymonucleic acid (RNA) in plants. However, Jean Brachet was the first biologist to localize both nucleic acids first in sea urchin and then in other animals (Brachet 1941). This critical observation led him to conclude that both nucleic acids could be present in all cells. To study this issue, Jean Brachet made several visits to the Biological Station of Roscoff, and he liked to describe the exciting atmosphere of this place in the early 30s (Brachet 1975). His results led him to suggest that there is a strong correlation between RNA levels and protein synthesis activity. Sea urchin eggs thus played a crucial role in demonstrating that RNAs are present in all cells and that they are implicated in the synthesis of proteins, as proposed by the central dogma of Francis Crick (DNA makes RNA, which in turn makes protein).

Sea urchin eggs permeability to radioactive precursors has helped elucidate the mechanisms controlling protein synthesis in relationships with the entry into mitosis in response to fertilization. Incorporation of exogenous amino acids into protein occurs only after fertilization in sea urchin. Indeed, RNA synthesis is negligible both before and after fertilization (Schmidt et al. 1948). Moreover, the inhibition of RNA transcription by actinomycin D alters neither protein synthesis rate nor the first mitotic divisions of early sea urchin embryos (Gross and Cousineau 1963), demonstrating that the zygotic genome activity is not required for early protein synthesis (Gross et al. 1964). These observations indicated for the first time that maternal mRNAs are already present in unfertilized eggs and strongly supported the notion that their translation is tightly controlled. Furthermore, the work of Hultin showed that the synthesis of specific proteins is required for mitosis entry (Hultin 1961), heralding the future discovery of Cyclins (Ernst 2011).

In late July 1982, once the teaching in the Woods Hole Marine Station was over and the sea urchin season was coming to an end, Tim Hunt performed the critical experiment that led to the discovery of Cyclins (Hunt 2002). Cyclins form complexes with Cyclin-dependent kinases (CDKs), a family of conserved serine/threonine kinases that phosphorylate substrates throughout the cell cycle (reviewed in Malumbres 2014). Before working on cell cycle control, Tim Hunt was interested in the regulation of protein synthesis. He wanted to compare the protein synthesis rates observed in normally fertilized and parthenogenetically activated eggs, using the calcium ionophore A23187. For this purpose, he studied the sea urchin Arbacia punctulata. Adding [35S] methionine to an egg suspension and separating proteins by gel electrophoresis, he produced an autoradiogram where one specific band, which was later identified as a Cyclin, showed an unexpected behaviour (Evans et al. 1983). Whereas most bands became stronger and stronger with time, this protein accumulated after fertilization but disappeared rapidly just before blastomere cleavage. In 2001, Tim Hunt shared the Nobel Prize in physiology or medicine with Leland Hartwell and Paul Nurse for discovering the key regulators of the cell cycle.

### 17.1.4 EMBRYONIC AND LARVAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE SEA URCHIN IN THE AGE OF MOLECULAR BIOLOGY

In the late 60s and early 70s, the rapid expansion of molecular biology was about to impact all the biology domains, including developmental biology. Notably, the first eukaryotic gene fragment isolated and introduced into the bacteria *E. coli* 

was obtained from unfractionated DNA from *Lytechinus pictus* and *Strongylocentrotus purpuratus* (Kedes et al. 1975). These fragments encoded for histones, making these sea urchin genes the first protein-coding eukaryotic genes ever cloned (Ernst 2011).

The study of sea urchin has provided many descriptions of developmental gene regulatory networks (dGRNs). These logic structures depict the sequential regulatory events determining cell fate in different tissues and embryonic layers. The genes involved in dGRNs encode for transcription factors and components of signalling pathways but also for effector genes acting downstream of cell fate determinants and for different cell state-specific markers. The configuration adopted by dGRNs, based on empirical data, provides a dynamic picture of the genetic interactions controlling spatial and temporal aspects of development (Martik et al. 2016). dGRNs are thus predictive and testable models which help in understanding why and when developmental functions take place. The dGRN controlling the specification of S. purpuratus endodermal and mesodermal layers was originally described before its genomic sequence was available (Davidson 2002). However, with the completion of the sea urchin genome (Sea Urchin Genome Sequencing Consortium et al. 2006), these original descriptions have never ceased to be enriched with new components and functional data (Davidson 2006; Oliveri et al. 2008; Su et al. 2009; Saudemont et al. 2010; Peter and Davidson 2010; Li et al. 2014). Different diagrams of dGRNs are available on the E. H. Davidson's laboratory webpage (http://grns.biotapestry. org/SpEndomes/). Eric Davidson was a US developmental biologist working at the California Institute of Technology and an inspiring figure for the community of developmental biologists, particularly those working with multicellular marine organisms (Ben-Tabou de-Leon 2017). He is renowned for his pioneering work on the characterization of regulatory networks and their roles in body plan evolution.

Here, we will summarize the mechanisms that initiate cell specification and the establishment of the main layers of the sea urchin embryo. More complete descriptions of these dGRNs are available in reviews (Arnone et al. 2015; Martik et al. 2016; Ben-Tabou de-Leon 2016). In sea urchins, the embryonic body plan is rapidly established after fertilization. At the 16-cell stage, maternal inputs plus zygotic transcription determine at least three distinctive dGRN states that control ectoderm, endoderm, and micromere determination (Martik et al. 2016). Ectoderm emanates from the animal pole, and endoderm and mesoderm derive from the vegetal pole. The canonical Wnt-β-catenin signalling pathway is involved in primary axis formation and endoderm specification (Wikramanayake et al. 1998; Logan et al. 1999; Wikramanayake et al. 2004).  $\beta$ -catenin is active in the vegetal pole and controls polarization along the animal-vegetal axis. When  $\beta$ -catenin enters the nucleus, it forms an active complex with the transcription factor Tcf, which initiates the specification of endoderm in the sea urchin vegetal half. At the 16-cell stage, the future endoderm and mesoderm are still assuming a common endomesodermic identity. A Delta-Notch signal controls the separation of these two embryonic

territories. The Delta-ligand expression is activated indirectly by the  $\beta$ -catenin-Tcf input in the skeletogenic mesoderm (Oliveri et al. 2008). Cells receiving the Delta signal are specified as mesoderm, and the others acquire an endodermal fate (Sherwood and McClay 1997; Sherwood and McClay 1999; Sweet et al. 2002). The reception of Delta in the cells initiates the expression of the transcription factor GCM (glial cell missing) (Ransick and Davidson 2006; Croce and McClay 2010). Then, a triple positive feedback circuit involving GCM, GataE and Six1/2 is responsible for GCM expression maintenance in the mesoderm (Ransick and Davidson 2012; Ben-Tabou de-Leon 2016). Once the original endomesoderm and ectoderm GRN states are defined, further specification and signalling come into play to generate at least 15 different cell types, which are already distinguishable by early gastrulation (Peter and Davidson 2010; Peter and Davidson 2011; Martik et al. 2016).

For instance, the dorsal–ventral (DV) axis, also referred to as the oral–aboral axis, is morphologically distinguishable at the gastrula stage (Cavalieri and Spinelli 2015) and forms thanks to the activity of the Nodal and BMP ligands, which specify respectively ventral (oral) and dorsal (aboral) ectoderm (Duboc et al. 2004; reviewed in Molina et al. 2013). Nodal activates the expression of the BMP2/4 in the ventral ectoderm, but it also elicits the production of Chordin, which blocks the activation of the BMP receptors in this region. BMP2/4 of ventral origin can then diffuse to the dorsal side (Lapraz et al. 2009), where it specifies dorsal fates activating the phosphorylation of the transcription factor Smad1/5/8 (Floc'hlay et al. 2021).

In sea urchins, activation of the zygotic genome begins at the 16-cell stage. Thus, previous development is driven by maternal factors (reviewed in Kipryushina and Yakovlev 2020). Among the post-transcriptional processes involved in early embryonic development, mRNA translation regulation deserves particular attention (Morales et al. 2006; Cormier et al. 2016). By polysome profiling and RNA sequencing, the translatome, which gives a complete picture of the polysomal recruitment dynamics, has been investigated in the sea urchin P. lividus (Chassé et al. 2017). This translatome represents the first step to an inclusive analysis of the translational regulatory networks (TRNs) that control the egg-toembryo transition as well as the early events patterning the sea urchin embryo (Chassé et al. 2018). Future challenges for sea urchin embryology will include deciphering the molecular mechanisms linking TRN and dGRN activities after fertilization.

#### 17.2 ECHINODERM PHYLOGENY

The echinoderms are an ancient and successful taxon of marine animals grouping together more than 10,000 living species. The first representatives of this phylum, which has left behind an extensive fossil record, have been found in the Cambrian Stage 3 (520 Mya) (Zamora et al. 2013). The echinoderms are deuterostome organisms belonging to the Ambulacraria clade, which also includes the Hemichordata (Figure 17.1). Estimates based on molecular clocks indicate

that these two taxa could have separated 580 Mya, during the Ediacaran (Erwin et al. 2011). The other branch of the deuterostomes, the Chordata, split even earlier and gave rise to the cephalochordates, the tunicates and the vertebrates (Lowe et al. 2015; Simakov et al. 2015).

The Paleozoic seas hosted at least 35 separate echinoderm clades presenting extremely diverse body plans. Most of them appeared during the Great Ordovician Biodiversification Event (GOBE), but only five of them made their way into the Mesozoic and have found a place in the modern faunas. These five clades correspond to the Crinoidea (sea lilies and feather stars), the Asteroidea (sea stars), the Ophiuroidea (brittle stars), the Holothuroidea (sea cucumbers) and the Echinoidea (sea urchins). Their representatives are all characterized by a typical pentaradial symmetry that is thought to have secondarily evolved from a bilateral ancestral form (Smith and Zamora 2013; Topper et al. 2019).

The ancient origin of the different echinoderm groups, which appeared during the Ordovician, has been a major obstacle to ascertaining their phylogenetic relationships. However, recent molecular phylogenies strongly support the so-called Asterozoan hypothesis that places the Ophiuroidea as the sister group of the Asteroidea (Reich et al. 2015; Telford et al. 2014; Cannon et al. 2014). According to these molecular phylogenies, Crinoidea appears as the basal branch of all the Echinoderms, with Holothuroidea being the closest relatives of Echinoidea (Figure 17.1). This last group underwent further diversification during the late Permian, the Mesozoic and the Cenozoic (Kroh and Smith 2010), producing a vast array of forms that have adopted remarkably different lifestyles and have adapted to all sorts of marine environments and climates.

The majority of the Echinoidea currently studied in the laboratory, including several edible species of commercial interest, belong to the order Camarodonta. The presence of this taxon in the fossil record has been dated back to the Miocene (Kroh and Smith 2010), but its different families may have originated earlier during the Middle Eocene and the Oligocene (45-23 Mya) (Láruson 2017). The recent characterization of the mitochondrial genomes and transcriptomes of several Camarodonta representatives (see Figure 17.2) have allowed researchers to establish the phylogeny of this group (Bronstein and Kroh 2019; Láruson 2017; Mongiardino Koch et al. 2018). At the same time, these molecular tools have provided an opportunity to develop comparative genomic approaches aimed at studying the molecular basis of the many anatomical, developmental, physiological and ecological specializations that characterize the different members of this taxon. Indeed, the density of available landmarks allows for the comparison of closely related species, such as the various Strongylocentrotidae representatives (divergence time estimated at 15-10 Mya) but also more distant species, such as the members of the Toxopneustidae, the Echinometridae, the Parechinidae or the Echinidae families (see Figure 17.2).

From a macroevolutionary perspective, these comparisons can nowadays be extended to other sea urchins



**FIGURE 17.1** (a) Deuterostome group taxonomy: The deuterostome group includes two main lineages, Chordata and Ambulacraria. Chordata include cephalochordates, vertebrates and tunicates. Vertebrates are subdivided into Agnatha (e.g., myxines, lamprey) and Gnathostomata, which include Chondrichthyes (e.g., sharks, sawfish) and Osteichthyes (e.g., ray-finned fish, tetrapods). Tunicates are represented by ascidians, larvaceans (appendicularians) and thaliaceans. Ambulacraria include hemichordates and echinoderms, which are subdivided into five classes (crinoids, asteroids, ophiuroids, holothuroids and echinoids). Nodes and branches represent splits between taxons without any relative time reference. Each class of echinoderms is represented by black and white unscaled photographs. (b–f) Living adult representative echinoderms. (b) The holothuroid *Holothuria forskali*; (c) the echinoid *Sphaerechinus granularis*; (d) the crinoid *Antedon bifida*; (e) the asteroid *Echinaster sepositus*; (f) the ophiuroid *Ophiocomina nigra*. Animals were collected and maintained by the Roscoff Aquarium Service at the Roscoff Marine Station, France. Animals are shown at different scales and bars positioned at the bottom represent 5 cm.



**FIGURE 17.2** Echinoidea classification. The taxon of Echinoidea is mostly represented in laboratories by the Camarodonta order, but studies are also made on irregular sea urchins (Irregularia) and the most distant group Cidaroidea. Nodes and branches represent speciation without any relative time reference. Each column corresponds to the classification (subclass, infraclass, order, infraorder, superfamily, family, species) identified on the World Register of Marine Species (WoRMS). (From Schwentner et al. 2018.)

commonly used in the laboratory that belong to more distant orders, such as the different members of the genus *Arbacia*, the Scutellina *Echinarachnius parma* (sand burrowing sea urchin) and the primitive forms of the order Cidaroida, a basal group that separated from the rest of Echinoidea during the late Permian (250 Mya) (Kroh and Smith 2010). Notably, a draft of the genomic sequence of the Cidaroida *Eucidaris tribuloides* is also available, allowing comparisons with the two fully sequenced Camarodonta *Strongylocentrotus purpuratus* and *Lytechinus variegatus* (Kudtarkar and Cameron 2017).

## 17.3 GEOGRAPHICAL LOCATION OF ECHINODERMS

Echinoderms, with their large diversity of species (>2,000 Asteroidea, >2,000 Ophiuroidea, >600 Crinoidea, >4,000 Echinoidea and >1,700 Holothuroidea species) inhabit all the oceans and seas of the planet (see Figure 17.3). This group is exclusively marine and is absent from freshwater, although some species can be found in brackish waters (Pagett 1981).

Echinoderms are benthic, and some are considered subsoil species, since they can burrow a few tens of centimetres in the sand (e.g., *Echinocardium cordatum*). Echinoderms have managed to adapt to a wide variety of environments, ranging from the warm waters of the tropics to the coldest waters of the poles (McClintock et al. 2011). For instance, all five classes of echinoderms are present in the Arctic Ocean (Smirnov 1994), and the Antarctic Ocean hosts the sea urchin *Sterechinus neumayeri*, which is studied for its biological mechanisms adapted to sub-zero temperatures (Pace et al. 2010). Echinoderms are also found at all depths, with some sea urchins inhabiting environments as deep as 7,300 meters (Mironov 2008), starfish and brittle stars at 8,000 m (Mironov et al. 2016) and feather stars at 9,000 m (Oji et al.



**FIGURE 17.3** Geographic distribution of the main sea urchin species cited in this chapter. Geographical locations represent the major place where each species is found. Particular single occurrences in other areas can be found in the World Register of Marine Species (WoRMS). The cryptic species *Echinocardium cordatum* is widely distributed on the planet (not shown on the figure for clarity), divided into four distinct geographical lineages: one in the north-east and north-west Atlantic Ocean, one in the Mediterranean Sea and the north-east Atlantic Ocean, one in the Mediterranean Sea and one in the North and South Pacific Ocean avoiding the equatorial zone. Close colour shapes do not represent a taxonomic relationship between species but are here to help distinguish between species in the same region. (From Horton et al. 2020; Chenuil and Feral 2003; Egea et al. 2011.)

2009). Holothurians are though the record holders, as some specimens have been observed below 10,000 m (Mironov et al. 2019).

The most popular species in the laboratories (A. punctulata, P. lividus, S. purpuratus, L. variegatus, L. pictus, H. pulcherrimus) come mainly from the northern hemisphere. However, sea urchin species have been described in all oceans, including the Indian Ocean, the deep Pacific and the Arctic (Smirnov 1994; Price and Rowe 1996; Rowe and Richmond 2004; Filander and Griffiths 2017; Mironov et al. 2015; Mulochau et al. 2014). Other species cited in this chapter (e.g., S. granularis, H. erythrogramma, S. neumayeri, M. franciscanus, S. droebachiensis) illustrate different aspects of sea urchin diversity and facilitate the study of many biological questions, from phylogeny, adaptation and evolution to species conservation, community interactions and ecology.

#### 17.4 SEA URCHIN LIFE CYCLE

Sea urchins are gonochoric with an average sex ratio of 1:1. Both sexes release their gametes (eggs or sperm) directly into the water column once a year, although in some species, a second period of spawning has also been reported, such as in *Paracentrotus lividus* (González-Irusta et al. 2010). In this animal, the mature season varies from January to June, and the spring equinox usually marks the height of the breeding season. In all echinoderms, the reproductive cycle and time of breeding (Table 17.1) may fluctuate, based on geographical (Figure 17.3) and local conditions. For example, *P. lividus* is found in the Mediterranean Sea and in the eastern Atlantic Ocean, from Scotland and Ireland to Southern Morocco and the Canary Islands. This species lives mainly in areas where winter water temperatures range from  $10-15^{\circ}$ C and summer temperatures from

#### **TABLE 17.1**

#### Breeding Season and Egg Diameter in Different Echinoidea Species

Echinoidea Species	Breeding Season	Egg Diameter	References		
Eucidaris tribuloides	_	94 µm	(McAlister and Moran 2012; Lessios 1988; Lessios 1990)		
Sterechinus neumayeri	September-November	180 µm	(Bosch et al. 1987; Stanwell-Smith and Peck 1998)		
Paracentrotus lividus	May–September (AO) April–June and September– November (MS)	75 µm	(Hamdoun et al. 2018; Ouréns et al. 2011; Rocha et al. 2019; Byrne 1990)		
Heliocidaris erythrogramma	November–February (SEA) February–May (SWA)	400–450 μm	(Binks et al. 2012; Foo et al. 2018; Raff 1987)		
Evechinus chloroticus	November-February	—	(Delorme and Sewell 2016)		
Hemicentrotus pulcherrimus	January–March	_	(Kiyomoto et al. 2014)		
Mesocentrotus franciscanus	June-September	130 µm	(Bernard 1977; Bolton et al. 2000)		
Strongylocentrotus purpuratus	November-March	80 µm	(Bolton et al. 2000; Hamdoun et al. 2018)		
Strongylocentrotus droebachiensis	March-May	145 µm	(Himmelman 1978; Levitan 1993; Meidel and Scheibling 1998)		
Lytechinus variegatus	May-September	100 µm	(Hamdoun et al. 2018; Lessios 1990, 1988; Schatten 1981)		
Lytechinus pictus	May-September	120 µm	(Hamdoun et al. 2018)		
Sphaerechinus granularis	April–June (Brittany) June–November (MS)	100 µm	(Guillou and Lumingas 1998; Guillou and Michel 1993; Vafidis et al. 2020)		
Temnopleurus reevesii	July–January	100 µm	(Hamdoun et al. 2018)		
Arbacia punctulata	June-August	69 µm	(Bolton et al. 2000; Gianguzza and Bonaviri 2013)		
Echinarachnius parma	March-July (NWP)	110–135 μm	(Costello and Henley 1971; Drozdov and Vinnikova 2010; Summers and Hylander 1974)		
Echinocardium cordatum	May–July (NWP) April–October (MS) May–October (AO)	110 µm	(Drozdov and Vinnikova 2010; Egea et al. 2011; Hibino et al. 2019)		

AO: Atlantic Ocean, MS: Mediterranean Sea, NWP: North-West Pacific Ocean, SWA: South-West Australia, SEA: South-East Australia

18–25°C. Several factors, like temperature, photoperiod, resource availability and water turbulence contribute to the regulation of gametogenesis in these populations (Gago and Luís 2011). On the other hand, records from the North Pacific, Arctic and North Atlantic Oceans show that spawning of the sea urchin *Strongylocentrotus droebachiensis* may also be synchronized with the spring phytoplankton increase (Himmelman 1978; Starr et al. 1990). However, the main environmental factors triggering spawning and the molecular mechanisms that mediate this response are not yet known.

During the reproductive cycle, *P. lividus* gonads go through different development stages, which have been exhaustively characterized (Byrne 1990). Observation of gametogenesis in *P. lividus* through histological examinations allows us to classify the annual reproductive cycle of this species in six developmental stages: 1) recovery, 2) growing, 3) premature, 4) mature, 5) partly spawned and 6) spent. In turn, in *Strongylocentrotus droebachiensis*, four stages have been recognized by examining the activity of the two main cell populations composing the germinal epithelium (Walker et al. 2007, 2013). These populations are the germinal cells, which are either ova in the ovary or spermatogonia in the testis, and a group of somatic cells called nutritive phagocytes (NPs), which are functionally equivalent to the vertebrate Sertoli cells and are present

in both sexes. Stage 1, called inter-gametogenesis, occurs directly after spring spawning and lasts for about three months. Residual reproductive cells are present, but otherwise, the gonads look empty. Toward the end of this stage, NP cells increase in number and resume nutrient storage, doubling their size by the end of this phase. In addition, reproductive cells begin to appear. NPs are involved in the phagocytosis of residual ova and spermatozoa, and thus participate in the recycling of derived nutrients. Stage 2 is called pre-gametogenesis and NP renewal. This stage begins in summer and lasts for approximately three to four months. Reproductive cells, present at the periphery of the gonad, increase both in number and size. Stage 3, gametogenesis and NP utilization, takes place during five winter months. The reproductive cells continue to develop and migrate into the centre of the gonad. Conversely, the NPs cells shrink, and their number decreases. Stage 4 corresponds to pre-spawning and spawning. This stage occurs in late winter and lasts around three months. The lumen of the gonad is packed with fully differentiated gametes, and the NP cells are barely observable. At the end of stage 4, spawning occurs, and gametes are released from the gonads by the gonopores.

Several holistic approaches have been generated to understanding the molecular mechanisms of gametogenesis and the events of the life cycle. Whole-genome and Q-PCR

**Emerging Marine Model Organisms** 

data have been obtained to identify genes expressed by *S. purpuratus* during oogenesis (Song et al. 2006). A general picture of protein abundance changes occurring during *P. lividus* gonad maturation has been generated by the proteomic approach (Ghisaura et al. 2016).

In Figure 17.4, we show the life cycle of the sea urchin *Sphaerechinus granularis*, which can be found at high densities in some locations of Brittany, such as the Glénan Islands and the Bay of Concarneau (Guillou and Michel 1993). However, captured adults maintained in appropriate conditions can release a large number of gametes from September to early July. Consequently, the availability of mature adults during most of the year makes this species a choice organism for cellular and biochemical studies (Feizbakhsh et al.

2020; Chassé et al. 2019). In the laboratory, gamete spawning may be induced artificially using several methods, such as intracoelomic injection of 0.1 M acetylcholine or of 0.5 M KCl. During the breeding season, when adults are mature, the expulsion of a small number of gametes may be obtained by a gentle shaking or by weak electrical stimulation, which facilitates the sexing of different individuals.

#### 17.5 SEA URCHIN EMBRYOGENESIS

Sea urchins were one of the first animals to be used for embryological studies, that is, the development of a multicellular organism from a single cell (the fertilized egg) (reviewed in Ettensohn 2017). Therefore, the particular



**FIGURE 17.4** Life cycle of the sea urchin *Sphaerechinus granularis*. The sea urchin life cycle is composed of three periods of time with embryology (cleavages, hatching, gastrulation) taking minutes to hours, larval development taking days and growing individuals following the metamorphosis taking years. *Sphaerechinus granularis* development is synchronous, and times are noted. Microscopy pictures of *S. granularis* stages were taken with DIC filter on a Leica DMi8 microscope. Fertilized egg diameter is around 100  $\mu$ m (×20 objectives) and slightly increases to prism and pluteus larva stage (×40 objectives). (From Delalande et al. 1998.)

development of a large set of species has been characterized in detail (see Table 17.2 and reviewed in Arnone et al. 2015; Hamdoun et al. 2018).

Sea urchin eggs are typically 80–200 µm in diameter and present an evenly distributed yolk (isolecithal; see Table 17.1). When released through the female gonoducts, unfertilized eggs are blocked at the G1 stage of the cell cycle, having completed their meiotic maturation in the ovary. Unfertilized eggs are polarized along a primordial axis, the animal-vegetal axis (A-V), which is specified during oogenesis and consequently is maternally established (Goldstein and Freeman 1997). Classically, the position of the animal pole corresponds to the extrusion site of the polar bodies. In some batches of Paracentrotus lividus eggs, a pigment band, initially described by Theodor Boveri (Schroeder 1980) and corresponding to a subequatorial accumulation of pigment granules, can be used as a visible marker of A-V polarity (Sardet and Chang 1985). A surface blister marking the animal pole has also been described in Echinocardium cordatum (Sardet and Chang 1985).

Bisection of an unfertilized egg through the equator, followed by independent fertilization of the two halves, results in an animal half that gives rise to an undifferentiated epithelial ball and a vegetal half that develops into a relatively normal pluteus (Horstadius 1939; Maruyama et al. 1985). The fates of the two halves are explained by the presence of genetic determinants in the vegetal pole and the subsequent participation of regulative interactions that implement the formation of the missing animal blastomeres in the vegetal half (reviewed in Angerer and Angerer 2000; Kipryushina and Yakovlev 2020).

Sea urchin embryos exhibit holoblastic cleavages; that is, they undergo a complete partition subdividing the whole egg into separate blastomeres. Cleavages are radial: the division planes form a right angle with respect to the previous division. The cleavage rate and the development speed usually depend on temperature. At 18°C, *Sphaerechinus granularis* zygotes reach the first division by 120 minutes, and each subsequent division occurs at regular intervals of nearly 60 minutes. In *Paracentrotus lividus*, the first cleavage is faster, occurring at 70–90 minutes post-fertilization. The first cleavage (Cl.1, 2 cells) is meridional (in the polar axis) and divides the egg into two equally sized blastomeres (Figure 17.5). The second cleavage (Cl.2, 4 cells) is perpendicular to the first but also

#### **TABLE 17.2**

	Omics Data	Main Research Thematics	References
Eucidaris tribuloides	G./T. available (Echinobase/NCBI)	Embryogenesis, Development, Global changing	(Erkenbrack et al. 2018)
Sterechinus neumayeri	T. available (NCBI)	Toxicity, Fertilization, Genetics, Global changing	(Dilly et al. 2015)
Loxechinus albus	T. available (NCBI)	Ecology, Genetics, Global changing	(Gaitán-Espitia et al. 2016)
Paracentrotus lividus	G. in progress (European consortium); T./Trl. available (NCBI)	Ecology, Toxicity, Fertilization, Embryogenesis, Development, Global changing, Economy	(Chassé et al. 2018; Gildor et al. 2016)
Heliocidaris erythrogramma	T. available (NCBI)	Fertilization, Embryogenesis, Development, Global changing	(Wygoda et al. 2014)
Evechinus chloroticus	T. available (NCBI)	Ecology, Toxicity, Global changing	(Gillard et al. 2014)
Hemicentrotus pulcherrimus	G./T. available (HpBase/NCBI)	Toxicity, Fertilization, Embryogenesis, Metabolism, Development, Genetics	(Kinjo et al. 2018)
Mesocentrotus franciscanus	T. available (NCBI)	Ecology, Fertilization, Genetics	(Wong et al. 2019)
Strongylocentrotus purpuratus	G./T. available (Echinobase/NCBI)	Toxicity, Fertilization, Embryogenesis, Development, Genetics, Global changing	(Kudtarkar and Cameron 2017; Sea Urchin Genome Sequencing Consortium et al. 2006; Tu et al. 2014)
Strongylocentrotus droebachiensis	Transcriptome available (NCBI)	Toxicity, Fertilization, Metabolism, Development, Global changing	(Runcie et al. 2017)
Lytechinus variegatus	G./T. available (Echinobase/NCBI)	Ecology, Toxicity, Fertilization, Development, Global changing	(Davidson et al. 2020; Hogan et al. 2020)
Lytechinus pictus	G. in progress; Transcriptomes available (Echinobase/NCBI)	Toxicity, Fertilization, Embryogenesis, Development	(Nesbit et al. 2019)
Sphaerechinus granularis	T. from ovaries available (Echinobase/ NCBI)	Toxicity, Fertilization, Embryogenesis	(Reich et al. 2015)
Temnopleurus reevesii	See chapter 18	Genetics	(Suzuki and Yaguchi 2018)
Arbacia punctulata	T. available (NCBI)	Toxicity, Fertilization, Embryogenesis, Metabolism, Development	(Janies et al. 2016)
Echinarachnius parma	T. from ovaries available (Echinobase/ NCBI)	Toxicity, Fertilization, Development	(Reich et al. 2015)
Echinocardium cordatum	T. available (NCBI)	Ecology, Toxicity, Development	(Romiguier et al. 2014)

Availability of Omics in Different Echinoidea Species and Their Main Research Thematics

G: Genome, T: Transcriptome, G./T: Genome and Transcriptome, Trl: Translatome



**FIGURE 17.5** Diagrams of sea urchin embryo development. (a) The six first cleavages of a sea urchin embryo. (b) Diagram of the 60-cell stage, (c) mesenchyme blastula, (d) gastrula and (e) pluteus larva stage with the colouration of presumptive cell fates. See embryogenesis text part for more details on cleavage axis, cell fate and migration. (Cl: cleavage, Bl: blastomeres, Me: mesomeres, An: animal, Ma: macromeres, Vg: vegetal, Mi: micromeres, S/L-Mi: small/large micromeres, bl: blastocoel, pmc: primary mesenchyme cells, b: blastopore, arc: archenteron, cb: ciliary/ciliated bands, pg: red-pigmented cells, bc: blastocoel cells, cc: coelomic cells, sm: small micromeres, sp: larval spicules, mo: mouth, a: anus.)

occurs in a meridional plane, resulting in the production of four equally sized blastomeres. The third cleavage (Cl.3, 8 cells) is equatorial (at right angles of the polar axis), resulting in four upper and four lower blastomeres, all of equal sizes. The fourth cleavage (Cl.4, 16 cells) exhibits a complex and characteristic pattern that reveals the basic A-V polarity of the embryo. In the vegetal pole, the four blastomeres divide asymmetrically and horizontally, forming four small cells placed in the egg's pole (the micromeres) and four larger cells situated above (the macromeres). In the animal pole, the four blastomeres divide meridionally and symmetrically, resulting in eight equally sized cells (the mesomeres). At the fifth cleavage (Cl.5, 32 cells), the eight mesomeres at the animal half divide equatorially and symmetrically, resulting in two layers of cells called "an1" for the upper one and "an2" for the lower one. In the vegetal pole, the four macromeres instead divide meridionally, forming a tier of eight cells. The four micromeres divide horizontally and asymmetrically, resulting in four small micromeres at the extreme vegetal pole hemisphere and four large micromeres above. At the sixth cleavage (Cl.6, 60 cells), all the cleavage furrows are equatorial. The macromeres divide, giving rise to two eightcell tiers called "veg1" and "veg2". The large micromeres divide as well, but not the small micromeres. In total, the 60-cell embryo shows, from top to bottom, 16 "an1" cells distributed in two layers of 8 cells each, 16 "an2" cells forming also two layers of 8 cells each, 8 "vg1", 8 "vg2", 8 large micromeres and 4 small micromeres.

The macromeres producing the "vg1" and "vg2" cells are the endomesoderm progenitors. The large micromeres contribute instead to the skeletogenic mesenchyme, and the small micromeres to the primordial germ cells (PGCs) (Okazaki 1975; Yajima and Wessel 2012). In the Echinoderm phylum, micromeres are only observed in echinoids and are thus considered a derived character. Asymmetric cell division is directed by the control of spindle and furrow cleavage position and by uneven repartition of molecules. Although the precise molecular mechanisms that orchestrate these asymmetric divisions are still poorly understood, it has been shown that the AGS/Pins proteins (activator of G-protein signalling/partner of Inscuteable) are required for normal asymmetrical division during micromere formation (Voronina and Wessel 2006; Poon et al. 2019).

As soon as the eight-cell stage is reached, a small central cavity forms in the centre of the embryo. As cleavage proceeds, this space enlarges and forms the blastocoel. A morula appears roughly six hours after fertilization, but at the 120-cell stage, the smooth-surfaced blastula becomes a continuous spherical monolayer surrounded by an outer hyaline layer. The epithelium sits on an inner basal membrane; cell adhesion is mediated by tight junctions. Cilia develop on the surface of the blastula, and their coordinated action triggers the rotation of the blastula within the fertilization envelope. Ten hours after fertilization, the blastula is composed of about 600 cells. Cell division rates decrease as the cell cycle lengthens. At the end of segmentation, the blastula is covered by cilia, presents a conspicuous apical ciliary tuft in the animal pole and starts secreting a hatching enzyme that digests the fertilization envelope. The synthesis of this hatching enzyme takes place in the animal-most two-thirds of the blastula and is likely to be restricted to the presumptive ectoderm territory (Lepage et al. 1992a, 1992b). Finally, a swimming blastula is released into the sea.

The blastula wall thickens at the vegetal pole, forming the vegetal plate. In the central region of this vegetal plate, the micromere descendants display pulsatile movements and start developing filopodia in their basal face. These cells lose their affinity for the outer hyaline structure and gain affinity for the fibronectin present in the basal lamina and the extracellular matrix lining the blastocoel (Fink and McClay 1985). Eventually, they detach from the epithelium and enter the blastocoel, forming the primary mesenchyme (Peterson and McClay 2003). As these cells are the first ones to ingress into the blastocoel, they are called primary mesenchyme cells (PMCs) (Burke et al. 1991). Adhering to the blastocoel matrix, these cells progress from the vegetal pole toward the animal pole and then reverse their trajectory. Finally, the PMCs reach an area located between the vegetal pole and the equator and form a ring pattern consisting of two ventrolateral cell clusters and dorsal and ventral interconnected chains of cells (Malinda and Ettensohn 1994). Then their filopodia coalesce, and the characteristic syncytial bridges of the larval skeleton appear. The primary mesenchyme cells of the sea urchin represent one of the best developmental models for studying mesodermal migration (Anstrom 1992; Ettensohn 1999; Ettensohn and Sweet 2000; Peterson and McClay 2003), and the cellular basis of skeletogenic cells has been characterized in detail (Okazaki 1975; Ettensohn and McClay 1988; Armstrong and McClay 1994). Moreover, the gene regulatory network (GRN) that controls their formation has also been described not only in species of the order Camarodonta (Oliveri and Davidson 2004; Oliveri et al. 2008) but also in other echinoid orders (Minokawa 2017).

In euchinoids, the ingression of the PMCs marks the onset of gastrulation. The invagination of the Vg2 territory in the blastocoel gives rise to the archenteron (primitive gut), opened to the outside by a circular blastopore (the future anus). Invagination of the vegetal plate, a universal feature of echinoderm gastrulation, is traditionally divided into "primary" and "secondary" invagination (Gustafson and Kinnander 1956). The "primary" invagination corresponds to an initial phase of gut extension that involves extensive extracellular matrix remodelling and cell shape changes (reviewed in Kominami and Takata 2004). Three hypotheses have been advanced to explain the "primary" invagination (reviewed in Ettensohn 2020). First, according to the so-called apical constriction hypothesis, a ring of vegetal plate cells become bottle shaped, compressing their apical ends (Kimberly and Hardin 1998). This cell shape modification causes the cells to pucker inward. However, bottle cells could be a specialized feature of euchinoids and not a general characteristic of all echinoderms (Ettensohn 2020). A second hypothesis proposes that invagination could be

driven by changes in extracellular matrix composition (Lane et al. 1993). In fact, the hyaline layer is made up of two layers: an outer lamina composed of hyalin protein and glycoproteins and an inner lamina composed of fibropellin proteins (Hall and Vacquier 1982; Bisgrove et al. 1991). After PMC ingression, the vegetal plate cells secrete chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans into the inner lamina of the hyaline layer. As these chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans capture abundant water, the inner layer expands even if the outer layer remains stiff. The result is a force pushing the epithelium toward the blastocoel (Lane et al. 1993). A third hypothesis suggests another force arising from the concerted movement of cells toward the vegetal pole that may facilitate the invagination

by drawing the buckled layer inward (Burke et al. 1991).

The "secondary" invagination ensues after a brief pause. During this stage, the archenteron extends and produces a long thin tube. The cells of the archenteron, which are organized as a monolayered epithelium, move over one another and flatten (Ettensohn 1985; Hardin 1989). In *Lytechinus variegatus*, gastrulation has been analyzed at a high resolution by live imaging and using transplantation techniques (Martik and McClay 2017). In this species, the process of archenteron elongation is mainly driven by the elongation of Vg2 endoderm cells. In fact, even if oriented cell divisions also contribute to gut elongation, cell proliferation inhibition does not preclude gastrulation, indicating that cell proliferation is not essential for this process (Stephens et al. 1986; Martik and McClay 2017).

The oral ectoderm of the gastrula flattens as the gastrula becomes roughly triangular, forming the prism larva. The embryonic radial symmetry is gradually replaced by a bilateral symmetry. An early sign of this transformation consists in the aggregation of primary mesenchyme cells into two clusters that develop in the opposite posterolateral–ventral angles of the prism larva. The cells of the primary mesenchyme form then a syncytium, in which two calcitic spicules develop. These spicules, flanking the primitive digestive tract, will constitute the endoskeleton of the pluteus larva. For this, the primary mesenchyme cells endocytose seawater from the larval internal body cavity and form a series of vacuoles where calcium can concentrate and precipitate as amorphous calcium carbonate (Kahil et al. 2020).

Once the archenteron reaches about two-thirds of its final length, the third and last stage of archenteron elongation begins (Hardin 1988). This phase is driven by the secondary mesenchyme cells, which extend filopodia through the blastocoel cavity to reach a specific area in the inner surface of the blastocoel roof (Hardin and McClay 1990). These filopodia pull the archenteron toward the animal pole and contact the region where the mouth will form. The mouth forms in the future ventral side of the larva after the fusion of the archenteron and the ectoderm epithelium. Typical of the deuterostomes, the mouth and the archenteron create a continuous digestive tube that joins the blastopore, which coincides with the anus.

During the processes of archenteron elongation, the secondary mesenchyme cells spread into the blastocoel fluid, where they form at least four non-skeletogenic mesoderm cells (Ettensohn and Ruffins 1993). Early in gastrulation, a population of red-pigmented cells forms (Gustafson and Wolpert 1967; Gibson and Burke 1985). It is interesting to note that independent knock out of the genes encoding for polyketide synthase, flavin monooxygenase family 3, and the glial cells missing (gcm) protein results in the disappearance of red-pigmented cells throughout the body of the larva (Wessel et al. 2020).

Later in gastrulation, a group of cells coming from the tip of the archenteron moves into the blastocoel and adopts a fibroblast-like morphology: they are the so-called basal cells (Cameron et al. 1991), or blastocoel cells (Tamboline and Burke 1992). At the end of gastrulation, two coelomic cavities appear as a bilateral out-pocketing of the foregut (Gustafson and Wolpert 1963). Afterwards, secondary mesenchymal cells move out of these coelomic cavities and produce the circumesophageal musculature of the pluteus larvae (Ishimoda-Takagi et al. 1984; Burke and Alvarez 1988; Wessel et al. 1990; Andrikou et al. 2013). While the right coelomic pouch remains rudimentary, the left coelomic pouch undergoes massive development to build many of the structures of the future adult sea urchin. The left side of the pluteus contributes to the formation of the future oral surface of the sea urchin adult (Aihara and Amemiya 2001). The left pouch splits into three smaller sacs. A duct-like structure, the hydroporic canal, extends from the anterior left coelomic pouch to the aboral ectoderm where the hydropore forms (Gustafson and Wolpert 1963). This hydroporic canal is covered by cilia and could be an excretory organ of the larvae (Hara et al. 2003) and later differentiates into a part of the adult water vascular system (Hyman 1955). The hydroporic canal formation constitutes the first morphological signature of left-right asymmetry in the pluteus larva (Luo and Su 2012). An invagination from the ectoderm fuses with the intermediate sac to form the imaginal rudiment, from which the pentaradial symmetry of the adult body plan is established (Smith et al. 2008). To facilitate the observation and the study of complex phases of development, a larval staging schematic of Strongylocentrotus purpuratus has been proposed (Smith et al. 2008). This schematic subdivides larval life into seven stages: 1) four-arm stage, 2) eight-arm stage, 3) vestibula invagination stage, 4) rudiment initiation stage, 5) pentagonal disc stage, 6) advanced rudiment stage and 7) tube-foot protrusion stage.

In the late gastrula, primary germ cells located in the archenteron tip incorporate into the imaginal rudiment. Skeletogenic mesenchyme cells penetrate the rudiment to produce the first skeletal plates of the future adult endoskeleton (Gilbert 2006). The rudiment separates from the rest of the larva during metamorphosis, reorganizes its digestive tract and then settles on the ocean floor, where the miniature sea urchin juvenile starts a benthic life.

This mode of development, however, is not universal among echinoids (reviewed in Raff 1987). Indeed, many sea urchins endowed with large eggs bypass the pluteus stage and directly form a non-feeding larva. For instance, *Peronella*  *japonica*, a species that possesses 300-µm-diameter eggs, produces a partial pluteus with a variable skeleton but no larval gut. *Heliocidaris erythrogramma* produces from a 450-µm-diameter egg a free-floating larva but lacks any relic pluteus structure except for the vestibule. The sea urchin *Abatus cordatus*, with a 1,300-µm-diameter egg, undergoes direct development in a brood chamber placed inside the mother.

#### 17.6 ANATOMY OF THE ADULT SEA URCHIN

A regular adult sea urchin resembles a sphere densely covered with spines. Animal size usually varies between 5 and 12 cm, but *Echinocyamus scaber*, an irregular echinoid, is the smallest known species (6 mm in size). The largest one is the red sea urchin *Mesocentrotus franciscanus* (syn. *Strongylocentrotus franciscanus*), with a body diameter of 15 to 17 cm and spines up to 30 cm.

Adult sea urchins exhibit a pentaradial symmetry with five equally sized parts radiating out of a central axis. The body is divided into radial (= ambulacral) and interradial (= interambulacral) alternate sectors. The mouth is present in the ventral side, and the anus appears in the dorsal-or aboral-region. The body plan is therefore organized around an oral-aboral axis, with no cephalic structures. Irregular echinoids, which include many species used for biological studies (Hibino et al. 2019), deviate from this regular pattern and belong to different clades such as the cidaroids (Order Cidaroida), the clypeasteroids (also known as sand dollars; Order Clypeasteroida) and the spatangoids (also known as heart urchins; Order Spatangoida). In these species, the anus and often also the mouth are no longer present in the two poles of the animal, generating a bilateral symmetry. Whereas regular sea urchins live often on rocky or sandy substrates, most of the irregular sea urchins are burrowing animals that dig in the sediment thanks to their specialized spines.

Sea urchins-like other echinoderms-have a dermaskeleton, which is a thin shell consisting of separate plates of hard calcite that is produced by mesenchyme cells of mesodermal origin. This dermaskeleton, called the test, is made of living cells surrounded by both organic and inorganic extracellular matrices. This calcium carbonate shell (mainly formed by CaCO<sub>3</sub>) displays a specific threedimensional organization known as stereom (an echinoderm synapomorphy). The cells constituting the stroma fill the open spaces of these stereomic structures with their mineral secretions. In echinoids, the plates forming the test are tightly apposed and bound together by connective tissue, generating a resistant armoured structure. A thin dermis and epidermis cover the dermaskeleton, which often bears protruding tubercles and rows of spines (in fact, the term echinoderm means in Greek "spiny skin"). The form and size of these spines are extremely variable. The base of the spine is attached by different sets of muscles capable of orienting the spine in different directions. The spine base contains a collagen matrix that can reversibly change its configuration and become flexible or rigid, which allows immobilizing the spine in one particular direction.

The ambulacra of most echinoderms, including echinoids, consist of longitudinal rows of tube feet (podia) protruding out of the test. Sea urchin adoral podia are highly specialized organs that have evolved to provide an efficient attachment to the substratum. These feet generally secrete in their tips a series of adhesive proteins sticking to different supports. Podia are the external appendages of the water vascular system and consequently can be hydraulically extended or contracted. This sophisticated hydraulic system consists of five radially arranged channels connected to a central ring channel surrounding the mouth. Water enters the system through the madreporite, a plate with a light-colored calcareous opening placed on the aboral side. The madreporite filters the seawater, which passes over a short stone channel and joins the ring channel. The tube feet are connected to five main radial channels by a network of lateral branches. Feet have two parts: the ampulla and the podium. The ampulla is a water-filled sac located inside the test and is flanked by circular and longitudinal muscles. The podium protrudes out of the test and is surrounded by a sheet of longitudinal muscles. When the muscles around the ampulla contract, water flows into the connected podium, inducing elongation. On the contrary, when the podia muscles contract, water returns to the ampulla and the podia retract. Differing from adoral podia, peristomal podia are not involved in adhesion and locomotion and have a sensory role. A large family of genes predicted to act in both chemo- and photoreception is expressed in tube feet or pedicellariae and reveals a complex sensory system in sea urchins (Sea Urchin Genome Sequencing Consortium et al. 2006). Pedicellariae are small claw-shaped structures found on the echinoderm endoskeleton, particularly in Asteroidea and Echinoidea. In some taxa, they are presented as cleaning appendages thought to keep the animal's surface free of parasites, debris and algae. Four primary forms of pedicellariae can be found in sea urchins: globiferous, triphyllous, ophicephalous and tridactylous. They typically present a claw shape consisting of three valves that have inspired the production of microactuated forceps (Leigh et al. 2012). Appendages, including tube feet, spines, pedicellariae and gills, are all present on the surface of the sea urchin. They present a broad diversity of shapes and offer a fantastic and strange spectacle under a simple dissecting microscope (for an excellent illustration of the different appendage types classified according to Hyman 1955, see Figure 4 of Burke et al. 2006).

These appendages are richly innervated sensory organs allowing sea urchins to interact with their environment (Yoshimura et al. 2012). Like other echinoderms, the sea urchin nervous system is dispersed, but it cannot be reduced to a loose neuron network. Although the adult is not cephalized, the radial nerve presents a segmental organization. The adult sea urchin nervous system is composed of five radial cords. They extend underneath the ambulacra and join their base by commissures that form the circumoral nerve ring, placed around the oesophagus next to the mouth (for a review, see Burke et al. 2006; Yoshimura et al. 2012). The radial nerve produces a series of extensions that pass through the test's pores and innervate the base of each appendage. Almost all tissues, including the viscera, are innervated (Burke et al. 2006), but the echinoderm nervous system is one of the least well studied among metazoans. Until the publication of a genomic view of the sea urchin nervous system (Burke et al. 2006), our knowledge about the echinoid nervous system relied exclusively on morphological studies. Now new lines of investigation have opened (Garcia-Arraras et al. 2001). The sea urchin genome encodes for all the regulatory proteins involved in neuronal specification, and many potential neuromodulators, neuropeptides and growth factors have been described, indicating that the echinoids use these modes of cell communication and regulation (Wood et al. 2018). While tube feet are non-ocular appendages, they do show localized expression of a set of retinal genes and many chemoreceptors, suggesting that they could be involved in light perception (Burke et al. 2006) and a wide range of other sensory modalities.

The digestive tract of echinoids is classically subdivided into different sections: mouth, buccal cavity, pharynx, oesophagus, stomach, intestine, rectum and anus (Hinman and Burke 2018). Sea urchins are benthic animals and eat organic matter that settles down from the column water, mainly preferring kelp, algae and sponges present in their habitat. Most of the irregular sea urchins, which live within the sediment, feed on its organic fraction. Sea urchins living in seaweed meadows graze and ingest macroalgae, including associated epibionts and microbiota (Burke et al. 2006). Echinoids possess a very sophisticated chewing apparatus, the lantern of Aristotle, which encircles the mouth opening and the pharynx. The lantern is composed of a pentamerous skeleton, including five teeth animated by a well-developed musculature (Ziegler et al. 2010). Sea urchins have an open circulatory system with an extensive body cavity filled with coelomic fluid. Passive gas exchange in the coelomic fluid takes place through gill-like appendages located around the mouth. Coelomocytes are free cells that are found in coelomic fluid and also among the tissue of various body parts. These cells are believed to play different functions, including nutrient transport and immune defence (Hakim et al. 2016).

In regular echinoids, sexes are separated, but the external morphology of males and females is indistinguishable. In the case of spatangoids, sexual dimorphism is apparent in the genital papillae; however, observing these structures is challenging, as they hide between the spines forming the apical system (Stauber 1993). The most prominent structures of the internal cavity of sea urchins are their five gonads (ovary or testis). These organs differentiate from a group of cells—the gonadal primordium—located in the dorsal mesentery of the newly metamorphosed juvenile (Chia and Xing 1996; Houk and Hinegardner 1980). The gonads are distinct organs delimited by a peritoneum; their innermost tissue layer contains the germinal epithelium. Each gonad forms a gonoduct joining the genital pore, an opening in the genital plates present on the aboral side of the animal. At the spawning period, eggs or sperm are released through these five genital pores. The group of Gary Wessel has extensively studied germ cell formation during echinoid development (for reviews, see Wessel et al. 2014; Swartz and Wessel 2015). The specification of these cells seems to be regulated by a conserved set of genes that include several classic germline markers such as Vasa, Nanos and Piwi. The germline cells derive from the small micromeres (Yajima and Wessel 2011), which appear early in embryogenesis during the fifth cleavage.

#### 17.7 GENOMIC DATA OF ECHINODERMS

Strongylocentrotus purpuratus was the first fully sequenced echinoderm (Sea Urchin Genome Sequencing Consortium et al. 2006). It was also the first non-chordate deuterostome genome, allowing the characterization of gene family evolutionary dynamics within the Bilateria and Deuterostomia. The sea urchin genome contains roughly 23,300 genes representing nearly all vertebrate gene families without extensive redundancy. Some genes previously considered vertebrate exclusive were found in the sea urchin genome, tracing their origin back to the deuterostome lineage. Since its first release, the genome's assembly has been improved, and the latest release in 2019 is the v5.0 genome. Other echinoderm genomes have been sequenced following this pioneering work, including different representatives of each class. The echinoderm genomes available in the NCBI genome dataset are listed in Table 17.3.

The genome dataset is completed by a vast amount of RNA-Seq data that are accumulating at a steady pace. There are currently over 4,000 Echinodermata high-throughput datasets archived in the NCBI Sequence Read Archive (SRA) database. They are organized in 345 BioProjects (search in November 2020) concerning both nuclear and mitochondrial genomes and are useful for phylogenomic analysis, transcriptome analysis of developmental stages and adaptation to stress or climate change. Table 17.2 presents the omics availability in the different Echinoidea species listed in the biogeographic map and phylogenetic tree shown previously.

An important resource for biologists working on echinoderms is the Echinoderm genome database EchinoBase (www.echinobase.org, and its former version at legacy. echinobase.org; Kudtarkar and Cameron 2017). Originally set up for the annotation of the *S. purpuratus* genome, it has incorporated data for several other echinoderm species, and nowadays, it constitutes a crucial tool for studies on gene regulation, evolution and developmental and cellular biology.

Other useful databases are HpBase (devoted to the Asian sea urchin *H. pulcherrimus*; cell-innovation.nig.ac.jp/Hpul; Kinjo et al. 2018, and EchinoDB, comparative transcriptomics on 42 species of echinoderms; echinodb.uncc.edu; Janies et al. 2016).

#### **TABLE 17.3**

#### Echinodermata Genomes Available at the NCBI Genome Database (www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/datasets/)

	Genome Size (Mbp)	NCBI Latest Assembly	Year	Other Database
Echinoidea				
Strongylocentrotus purpuratus	921	Spur_5.0	2019	Echinobase: www.echinobase.org*
Lytechinus variegatus	1061	Lvar_3.0	2021	www.echinobase.org*
Eucidaris tribuloides	2187	Etri_1.0	2015	legacy.echinobase.org*
Hemicentrotus pulcherrimus	568	HpulGenome_v1	2018	HpBase: cell-innovation.nig.ac.jp/Hpul/**
Holothuroidea				
Actinopyga echinites	899	ASM1001598v1	2020	_
Apostichopus japonicus	804	ASM275485v1	2017	
Apostichopus leukothele	480	ASM1001483v1	2020	_
Australostichopus mollis	1252	assembly_1.0	2020	_
Holothuria glaberrima	1128	ASM993650v1	2020	_
Paelopatides confundens	1128	ASM1131785v1	2020	_
Stichopus horrens	689	UKM_Sthorr_1.1	2019	_
Asteroidea				
Acanthaster planci	384	OKI-Apl_1.0	2016	Echinobase: www.echinobase.org*
Asterias rubens	417	eAstRub1.3	2020	www.echinobase.org*
Patiria miniata	811	Pmin_3.0	2020	www.echinobase.org*
Patiriella regularis	949	assembly_1.0	2017	_
Pisaster ochraceus	401	ASM1099431v1	2020	_
Ophuiroidea				
Ophionereis fasciata	1185	assembly_1.0	2017	_
Ophiothrix spiculata	2764	Ospi.un_1.0	2015	legacy.echinobase.org*
Crinoidea				
Anneissia japonica	589	ASM1163010v1	2020	Echinobase: www.echinobase.org*

\*(Kudtarkar and Cameron 2017);

\*\*(Kinjo et al. 2018)

## 17.8 FUNCTIONAL APPROACHES: TOOLS FOR MOLECULAR AND CELLULAR ANALYSES

Their external fertilization, the large number of gametes, the easy access to all stages of embryogenesis and the transparency of both eggs and embryos make echinoderms suitable organisms for different approaches in cellular biology, biochemistry and molecular biology. The availability of genome and transcriptome data (see genomic resources section) has facilitated gene expression analysis and manipulation in many sea urchin species and other echinoderms.

Spatial and temporal localization of mRNAs has been investigated by *in situ* hybridizations in several sea urchin species (Erkenbrack et al. 2019), as well as in other echinoderms (Fresques et al. 2014; Dylus et al. 2016; Yu et al. 2013). Localization of proteins at the cellular and embryonic levels by immunolocalization is often dependent on the availability of cross-reacting antibodies directed against vertebrate homologs of the protein of interest. Many commercial antibodies against mammalian proteins have indeed helped to decipher different molecular processes in sea urchins, such as microtubule dynamics and Cyclin B/CDK1 complex activity during embryonic divisions (see Figure 17.6). However, some specific antibodies directed against sea urchin proteins have also been developed in many laboratories (Venuti et al. 2004). The function of many molecular players and signalling pathways has also been investigated using different pharmacological inhibitors or activators (Mulner-Lorillon et al. 2017; Molina et al. 2017; Feizbakhsh et al. 2020). Finally, labelling of eggs and embryos with radioactive and nonradioactive precursors allows for the monitoring of metabolic activities (for example, protein synthesis; Chassé et al. 2019).

Manipulation of gene function and/or expression during embryogenesis is achieved by the microinjection of various reagents, such as exogenous mRNA coding for native proteins and dominant-negative forms, morpholinos that interfere with the translation or splicing of endogenous mRNAs and, more recently, CRISPR-Cas9 reagents permitting gene knock-out. Microinjection represents, thus far, the only way to efficiently introduce reagents into the sea urchin eggs or blastomeres. Several recently published methods have described microinjection techniques and applications (von Dassow et al. 2019; Molina et al. 2019; Chassé et al. 2019).

The genome-editing CRISPR/Cas9 technology has been successfully implemented in sea urchin to efficiently knockout developmental genes. So far, the genes targeted by CRISPR/Cas9 were selected because of a visible F0 phenotype: disruption of dorsoventral patterning for Nodal knockdown (Lin and Su 2016) or albinism as a visual readout for polyketide synthase 1 (Oulhen and Wessel 2016). Recently, the successful



**FIGURE 17.6** First mitotic division in *Sphaerechinus granularis* embryos. (a–j) Confocal micrographs describing progression through the first mitotic division in *S. granularis*. Embryos belonging to consecutive stages were labelled with anti-tubulin (shown in green, top panels; b/w, middle panels) and with an antibody against the T318 phosphorylated form of the phosphatase PP1C (red, top panels; b/w, bottom panels). The levels of this phospho-epitope reflect the activity of the Cyclin B/CDK1 complex (Chassé et al. 2016; Feizbakhsh et al. 2020). Nuclear DNA was labelled with DAPI (blue, top panels). (b) Chromatin condensation starts during early prophase (white arrow). (c) Later on, the phT318PP1C signal starts to accumulate in the nucleus (black arrow). The position of the MTOCs also becomes visible (red arrows). (d) Following the collapse of the microtubule radial network, the mitotic spindle begins to form. (e) During metaphase, the phT318PP1C levels reach their maximum, and the chromosomes align in the metaphasic plate (white arrow). The nuclear envelope has disappeared. (f–h) As sister chromatids separate during anaphase, the astral microtubules fill the entire cytoplasm. In parallel, the levels of phT318PP1C decrease dramatically. (i) Chromatin de-condensation begins in early telophase (white arrows). (j) By late telophase, the MTOCs of each daughter cell are apparent (red arrows). A faint phT318PP1C signal in the nuclei heralds the second mitotic division (black arrows).

production of a homozygous F2 mutant using the CRISPR-Cas9 system was obtained in *Temnopleurus reevesii*, which takes advantage of the relatively short life cycle of this species (Yaguchi et al. 2020; see also Chapter 18). This breakthrough gives us the possibility to implement genetic analyses in the sea urchin model (in species with short generation time) and study the function of many maternal factors and mRNAs.

#### 17.9 CHALLENGING QUESTIONS

During their long evolutionary trajectory, echinoderms have adapted to all sorts of climatic conditions and have colonized most of the ocean floor, from the intertidal areas to the deep-sea benthos. The study of this adaptation capacity has just begun and should foster many exciting discoveries. Moreover, it has become evident that echinoderms constitute a valuable biological system to analyze the potential of marine species to adapt to anthropogenic disturbance. Their population densities are very sensitive to climate change, ocean acidification, eutrophication, overfishing, predatory removal and the introduction of alien species (Uthicke et al. 2009). In addition, this group of animals plays a crucial role in many marine habitats and food webs, and several members of this clade have been recognized as "keystone species" in different ecosystems (Power et al. 1996). Echinoderms have thus acquired an essential place in experimental marine ecology.

As detailed previously, many genomic resources are available nowadays for the researchers studying this clade, in particular for those interested in the analysis of the echinoids. These resources have greatly facilitated the development of comparative approaches aimed at understanding the genetic basis of adaptive traits. The density of available landmarks, including closely related species but also different groups separated by increasing phylogenetic distances, allows dissection at the molecular level of both micro- and macroevolutionary processes.

In echinoderms, many studies have focused on the acquisition of evolutionary novelties and the diversification of life strategies. For instance, it has been shown that several species have significantly accelerated their life cycles, reprogramming their ancestral planktotrophic larvae into non-feeding lecithotrophic forms (Raff and Byrne 2006). These evolutionary transitions have obvious adaptive roles. In lecithotrophic species, the life cycle becomes independent of fluctuations in plankton levels since their development relies on the nutrients supplied by their mothers. Indeed, it has been argued that the disturbance of planktonic food chains could contribute in the near future to the decline of planktotrophic species (Uthicke et al. 2009). At the same time, these developmental transitions can now be analyzed in great detail both at the cellular and molecular levels.

For instance, it has been shown in the *Heliocidaris* genus that the eggs of lecithotrophic species have undergone an outstanding increase in size, driven by a thorough remodelling of their oogenesis program (Byrne et al. 1999). Moreover, the comparison of gene regulatory networks controlling early development, like in the lecithotrophic

*Heliocidaris erythrogramma* and the planktotrophic *Heliocidaris tuberculata*, provides important hints about the identity of the molecular players participating in evolutionary change (Israel et al. 2016). These approaches have greatly benefited from the deep knowledge of developmental networks acquired thanks to the study of early development in *Strongylocentrotus purpuratus* and other echinoderm species (Cary and Hinman 2017).

Echinoderm biology stands now at the intersection between ecology, cell and developmental and evolutionary biology and should greatly profit from this privileged position.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS AND FUNDING

We apologize to those whose work was not cited or discussed here because of the broad scope of this review and space limitations. We are indebted to the Marine and Diving Facility and the Aquarium Service of the Roscoff Marine Station for echinoderm collection and rearing. We are also grateful to the imaging platform of the FR2424 (Plateforme MerImage, SU/CNRS). We thank H. Flom for manuscript corrections. The authors acknowledge the support of "La Ligue contre le Cancer (coordination du Grand Ouest: comités Finistère, Côtes d'Armor, Deux-Sèvres, Morbihan, Ille-et-Villaine, Loire Atlantique, Charente, Sarthe)", the Brittany Regional Council (Région Bretagne), the Finistère Department Council (CG29). Florian Pontheaux is funded by a PhD fellowship from the French Education Ministry [SU; Doctoral School ED515].

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Aihara, M. and S. Amemiya. 2001. Left-right positioning of the adult rudiment in sea urchin larvae is directed by the right side. *Development* 128:4935–4948.
- Allen, R.D. and J.L. Griffin. 1958. The time sequence of early events in the fertilization of sea urchin eggs. *Experimental Cell Research* 15:163–173.
- Andrikou, C., Iovene, E., Rizzo, F., Oliveri, P. and M.I. Arnone. 2013. Myogenesis in the sea urchin embryo: The molecular fingerprint of the myoblast precursors. *EvoDevo* 4:33–48.
- Angerer, L.M. and R.C. Angerer. 2000. Animal-vegetal axis patterning mechanisms in the early sea urchin embryo. *Developmental Biology* 218:1–12.
- Angione, S.L., Oulhen, N., Brayboy, L.M., Tripathi, A. and G.M. Wessel. 2015. Simple perfusion apparatus for manipulation, tracking, and study of oocytes and embryos. *Fertility and Sterility* 103:281–290.
- Anstrom, J.A. 1992. Microfilaments, cell shape changes, and the formation of primary mesenchyme in sea urchin embryos. *Journal of Experimental Zoology* 264:312–322.
- Armstrong, N. and D.R. McClay. 1994. Skeletal pattern is specified autonomously by the primary mesenchyme cells in sea urchin embryos. *Developmental Biology* 162:329–338.
- Arnone, M.I., Byrne, M. and P. Martinez. 2015. Echinodermata. In Evolutionary Developmental Biology of Invertebrates, ed. A. Wanninger, 6:1–58. Springer-Verlag, Wien.
- Ben-Tabou de-Leon, S. 2017. The network remains. *History and Philosophy of the Life Sciences* 39:32.

- Ben-Tabou de-Leon, S. 2016. Robustness and accuracy in sea urchin developmental gene regulatory networks. *Frontiers in Genetics* 7:16–21.
- Bernard, F.R. 1977. Fishery and reproductive cycle of the red sea urchin, strongylocentrotus franciscanus, in British Columbia. *Journal of the Fisheries Board of Canada* 34:604–610.
- Binks, R.M., Prince, J., Evans, J.P. and W.J. Kennington. 2012. More than bindin divergence: Reproductive isolation between sympatric subspecies of a sea urchin by asynchronous spawning. *Evolution* 66:3545–3557.
- Bisgrove, B.W., Andrews, M.E. and R.A. Raff. 1991. Fibropellins, products of an EGF repeat-containing gene, form a unique extracellular matrix structure that surrounds the sea urchin embryo. *Developmental Biology* 146:89–99.
- Böhmer, M., Van, Q., Weyand, I., Hagen, V., Beyermann, M., Matsumoto, M., Hoshi, M., Hildebrand, E. and U.B. Kaupp. 2005. Ca<sup>2+</sup> spikes in the flagellum control chemotactic behavior of sperm. *EMBO J* 24:2741–2752.
- Bolton, T.F., Thomas, F.I. and C.N. Leonard. 2000. Maternal energy investment in eggs and jelly coats surrounding eggs of the echinoid *Arbacia punctulata*. *The Biological Bulletin* 199:1–5.
- Bosch, I., Beauchamp, K.A., Steele, M.E. and J.S. Pearse. 1987. Development, metamorphosis, and seasonal abundance of embryos and larvae of the Antarctic sea urchin *Sterechinus neumayeri*. *The Biological Bulletin* 173:126–135.
- Boveri, T. 2008. Concerning the origin of malignant tumours by Theodor Boveri: Translated and annotated by Henry Harris. *Journal of Cell Science* 121:1–84.
- Boveri, T. 1902. Über mehrpolige Mitosen als Mittel zur Analyse des Zellkerns. [Concerning multipolar mitoses as a means of analysing the cell nucleus]. Verhandlungen der Physikalisch-Medizinischen Gesellschaft zu Würzburg 35:67–90.
- Brachet, J. 1975. From chemical to molecular sea urchin embryology. American Zoologist 15:485–491.
- Brachet, J. 1941. La localisation des acides pentose-nucléiques dans les tissus animaux et les oeufs d'amphibiens en voie de développement. *Archive de Biologie* 53:207–257.
- Briggs, E. and G.M. Wessel. 2006. In the beginning . . . animal fertilization and sea urchin development. *Developmental Biology* 300:15–26.
- Bronstein, O. and A. Kroh. 2019. The first mitochondrial genome of the model echinoid *Lytechinus variegatus* and insights into Odontophoran phylogenetics. *Genomics* 111:710–718.
- Burke, R.D. and C.M. Alvarez. 1988. Development of the esophageal muscles in embryos of the sea urchin *Strongylocentrotus purpuratus*. *Cell Tissue Research* 252:411–417.
- Burke, R.D., Angerer, L.M., Elphick, M.R., Humphrey, G.W., Yaguchi, S., Kiyama, T., Liang, S., Mu, X., Agca, C., Klein, W.H., Brandhorst, B.P., Rowe, M., Wilson, K., Churcher, A.M., Taylor, J.S., Chen, N., Murray, G., Wang, D., Mellott, D., Olinski, R., Hallböök, F. and M.C. Thorndyke. 2006. A genomic view of the sea urchin nervous system. *Developmental Biology* 300:434–460.
- Burke, R.D., Myers, R.L., Sexton, T.L. and C. Jackson. 1991. Cell movements during the initial phase of gastrulation in the sea urchin embryo. *Developmental Biology* 146:542–557.
- Byrne, M. 1990. Annual reproductive cycles of the commercial sea urchin *Paracentrotus lividus* from an exposed intertidal and a sheltered subtidal habitat on the west coast of Ireland. *Marine Biology* 104:275–289.
- Byrne, M., Villinski, J.T., Cisternas, P., Siegel, R.K., Popodi, E. and R.A. Raff. 1999. Maternal factors and the evolution of developmental mode: Evolution of oogenesis in *Heliocidaris erythrogramma*. Developmental Genes and Evolution 209:275–283.

- Byrnes, W.M. and W.R. Eckberg. 2006. Ernest Everett Just (1883–1941): An early ecological developmental biologist. *Developmental Biology* 296:1–11.
- Byrnes, W.M. and S.A. Newman. 2014. Ernest Everett Just: Egg and embryo as excitable systems. *Journal of Experimental Zoology. PartB, Molecular and Developmental Evolution* 322B:191–201.
- Cameron, R.A., Fraser, S.E., Britten, R.J. and E.H. Davidson. 1991. Macromere cell fates during sea urchin development. *Development* 113:1085–1091.
- Cannon, J.T., Kocot, K.M., Waits, D.S., Weese, D.A., Swalla, B.J., Santos, S.R. and K.M. Halanych. 2014. Phylogenomic resolution of the hemichordate and echinoderm clade. *Current Biology* 24:2827–2832.
- Cary, G.A. and V.F. Hinman. 2017. Echinoderm development and evolution in the post-genomic era. *Developmental Biology* 427:203–211.
- Cavalieri, V. and G. Spinelli. 2015. Symmetry breaking and establishment of dorsal/ventral polarity in the early sea urchin embryo. *Symmetry* 7:1721–1733.
- Chassé, H., Aubert, J., Boulben, S., Le Corguille, G., Corre, E., Cormier, P. and J. Morales. 2018. Translatome analysis at the egg-to-embryo transition in sea urchin. *Nucleic Acids Research* 46:4607–4621.
- Chassé, H., Boulben, S., Costache, V., Cormier, P. and J. Morales. 2017. Analysis of translation using polysome profiling. *Nucleic Acids Research* 45:e15. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkw907.
- Chassé, H., Boulben, S., Glippa, V., Pontheaux, F., Cormier, P. and J. Morales. 2019. In vivo analysis of protein translation activity in sea urchin eggs and embryos. In *Methods in Cell Biology, Echinoderms, Part B*, ed. A. Hamdoun and K.R. Foltz, 150:335–352. Elsevier; Academic Press, London UK.
- Chassé, H., Mulner-Lorillon, O., Boulben, S., Glippa, V., Morales, J. and P. Cormier. 2016. Cyclin B translation depends on mTOR activity after fertilization in sea urchin embryos. *PLoS One* 11:e0150318. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0150318.
- Chenuil, A. and J.-P. Féral. 2003. Sequences of mitochondrial DNA suggest that *Echinocardium cordatum* is a complex of several sympatric or hybridizing species: A pilot study. In *Echinoderm Research 2001*, ed. J.-P. Féral and B. David, 15–21. Proc. 6th Eur. Conf. Echinoderm, Banyuls-sur-mer, France. Swets & Zeitlinger Publishers, Lisse, NL.
- Chia, F.S. and Xing, J. 1996. Echinoderm coelomocytes. *Zoological Studies* 35:231–254.
- Clift, D. and Schuh, M. 2013. Restarting life: Fertilization and the transition from meiosis to mitosis. *Nature Reviews: Molecular Cell Biology* 14:549–562.
- Cormier, P., Chassé, H., Cosson, B., Mulner-Lorillon, O. and J. Morales. 2016. Translational control in echinoderms: The calm before the storm. In *Evolution of the Protein Synthesis Machinery and Its Regulation*, ed. G. Hernandez and R. Jagus, 413–434. Springer International Publishing, Switzerland.
- Costache, V., McDougall, A. and R. Dumollard. 2014. Cell cycle arrest and activation of development in marine invertebrate deuterostomes. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 450:1175–1181.
- Costello, D.P. and C. Henley. 1971. Methods for obtaining and handling marine eggs and embryos. *Marine Biological Laboratory*. https://hdl.handle.net/1912/295.
- Croce, J.C. and D.R. McClay. 2010. Dynamics of Delta/Notch signaling on endomesoderm segregation in the sea urchin embryo. *Development* 137:83–91.
- Darszon, A., Nishigaki, T., Wood, C., Treviño, C.L., Felix, R. and C. Beltrán. 2005. Calcium channels and Ca<sup>2+</sup> fluctuations

in sperm physiology. International Review of Cytology 243:79–172.

- Davidson, E.H. 2006. Gene regulatory networks and the evolution of animal body plans. *Science* 311:796–800.
- Davidson, E.H. 2002. A genomic regulatory network for development. Science 295:1669–1678.
- Davidson, P.L., Guo, H., Wang, L., Berrio, A., Zhang, H., Chang, Y., Soborowski, A.L., McClay, D.R., Fan, G. and G.A. Wray. 2020. Chromosomal-level genome assembly of the sea urchin *Lytechinus variegatus* substantially improves functional genomic analyses. *Genome Biology and Evolution* 12:1080–1086.
- Delalande, C., Monnier, A., Minella, O., Geneviere, A.M., Mulner-Lorillon, O., Belle, R. and P. Cormier. 1998. Developmental regulation of elongation factor-1 delta in sea urchin suggests appearance of a mechanism for alternative poly(A) site selection in gastrulae. *Experimental Cell Research* 242:228–234.
- Delorme, N.J. and M.A. Sewell. 2016. Effects of warm acclimation on physiology and gonad development in the sea urchin Evechinus chloroticus. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & Integrative Physiology 198:33–40.
- Derbès, A.A. 1847. Observations sur le méchanisme et les phenomènes qui accompagnent la formation de l'embryon chez l'oursin comestible. Annales des Sciences Naturelles (Zool) 8:80–98.
- Dilly, G.F., Gaitán-Espitia, J.D. and G.E. Hofmann. 2015. Characterization of the Antarctic sea urchin (*Sterechinus neumayeri*) transcriptome and mitogenome: A molecular resource for phylogenetics, ecophysiology and global change biology. *Molecular Ecology Resources* 15:425–436.
- Drozdov, A.L. and V.V. Vinnikova. 2010. Morphology of gametes in sea urchins from Peter the Great Bay, Sea of Japan. *Ontogenez* 41:47–57.
- Duboc, V., Röttinger, E., Besnardeau, L. and T. Lepage. 2004. Nodal and BMP2/4 signaling organizes the oral-aboral axis of the sea urchin embryo. *Developmental Cell*. 6:397–410.
- Dupont, G. and R. Dumollard. 2004. Simulation of calcium waves in ascidian eggs: Insights into the origin of the pacemaker sites and the possible nature of the sperm factor. *Journal of Cell Science* 117:4313–4323.
- Dylus, D.V., Czarkwiani, A., Stångberg, J., Ortega-Martinez, O., Dupont, S. and P. Oliveri. 2016. Large-scale gene expression study in the ophiuroid *Amphiura filiformis* provides insights into evolution of gene regulatory networks. *EvoDevo* 7:2.
- Egea, E., Mérigot, B., Mahé-Bézac, C., Féral, J.-P. and A. Chenuil. 2011a. Differential reproductive timing in *Echinocardium* spp.: The first Mediterranean survey allows interoceanic and interspecific comparisons. *Comptes Rendus Biologies* 334:13–23.
- Erkenbrack, E.M., Croce, J.C., Miranda, E., Gautam, S., Martinez-Bartolome, M., Yaguchi, S. and R.C. Range. 2019. Whole mount in situ hybridization techniques for analysis of the spatial distribution of mRNAs in sea urchin embryos and early larvae. In *Methods in Cell Biology: Echinoderms, Part B*, ed. A. Hamdoun and K.R. Foltz, 150:177–196. Elsevier; Academic Press, London UK.
- Erkenbrack, E.M., Davidson, E.H. and I.S. Peter. 2018. Conserved regulatory state expression controlled by divergent developmental gene regulatory networks in echinoids. *Development* 145:1–11.
- Ernst, S.G. 2011. Offerings from an urchin. Developmental Biology 358:285–294.
- Erwin, D.H., Laflamme, M., Tweedt, S.M., Sperling, E.A., Pisani, D. and K.J. Peterson. 2011. The Cambrian conundrum: Early

divergence and later ecological success in the early history of animals. *Science* 334:1091–1097.

- Ettensohn, C.A. 2020. The gene regulatory control of sea urchin gastrulation. *Mechanisms of Development* 162:103599.
- Ettensohn, C.A. 2017. Sea urchins as a model system for studying embryonic development. In *Reference Module in Biomedical Sciences*, ed M.J. Caplan. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- Ettensohn, C.A. 1999. Cell movements in the sea urchin embryo. *Current Opinion in Genetics & Development* 9:461–465.
- Ettensohn, C.A. 1985. Gastrulation in the sea urchin embryo is accompanied by the rearrangement of invaginating epithelial cells. *Developmental Biology* 112:383–390.
- Ettensohn, C.A. and D.R. McClay. 1988. Cell lineage conversion in the sea urchin embryo. *Developmental Biology* 125:396–409.
- Ettensohn, C.A. and S.W. Ruffins. 1993. Mesodermal cell interactions in the sea urchin embryo: Properties of skeletogenic secondary mesenchyme cells. *Development* 117:1275–1285.
- Ettensohn, C.A. and H.C. Sweet. 2000. Patterning the early sea urchin embryo. *Current Topics in Developmental Biology* 50:1–44.
- Evans, T., Rosenthal, E.T., Youngblom, J., Distel, D. and T. Hunt. 1983. Cyclin: A protein specified by maternal mRNA in sea urchin eggs that is destroyed at each cleavage division. *Cell* 33:389–396.
- Feizbakhsh, O., Pontheaux, F., Glippa, V., Morales, J., Ruchaud, S., Cormier, P. and F. Roch. 2020. A peak of H3T3 phosphorylation occurs in synchrony with mitosis in sea urchin early embryos. *Cells* 9:898.
- Filander, Z. and C. Griffiths. 2017. Illustrated guide to the echinoid (Echinodermata: Echinoidea) fauna of South Africa. Zootaxa 4296:1–72.
- Fink, R.D. and D.R. McClay. 1985. Three cell recognition changes accompany the ingression of sea urchin primary mesenchyme cells. *Developmental Biology* 107:66–74.
- Finkel, T. 2011. Signal transduction by reactive oxygen species. The Journal of Cell Biology 194:7–15.
- Floc'hlay, S., Molina, M.D., Hernandez, C., Haillot, E., Thomas-Chollier, M., Lepage, T. and D. Thieffry. 2021. Deciphering and modelling the TGF-β signalling interplays specifying the dorsal-ventral axis of the sea urchin embryo. *Development* 148:dev189944.
- Foerder, C.A. and B.M. Shapiro. 1977. Release of ovoperoxidase from sea urchin eggs hardens the fertilization membrane with tyrosine crosslinks. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 74:4214–4218.
- Fol, H. 1879. Recherches sur la fécondation et le commencement de l'hénogénie chez divers animaux. Mémoires de la Société de Physique et d'Histoire Naturelle (Geneve) 26:89–250.
- Foo, S.A., Deaker, D. and M. Byrne. 2018. Cherchez la femme impact of ocean acidification on the egg jelly coat and attractants for sperm. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 221:jeb177188.
- Fresques, T., Zazueta-Novoa, V., Reich, A. and G.M. Wessel. 2014. Selective accumulation of germ-line associated gene products in early development of the sea star and distinct differences from germ-line development in the sea urchin: Sea star germ-line gene expression. *Developmental Dynamics* 243:568–587.
- Gago, J. and O.J. Luís. 2011. Comparison of spawning induction techniques on *Paracentrotus lividus* (Echinodermata: Echinoidea) broodstock. *Aquaculture International* 19:181–191.
- Gaitán-Espitia, J.D., Sánchez, R., Bruning, P. and L. Cárdenas. 2016. Functional insights into the testis transcriptome of the edible sea urchin *Loxechinus albus*. *Scientific Reports* 6:36516.

- Garcia-Arraras, J.E., Rojas-Soto, M., Jimenez, L.B. and L. Diaz-Miranda. 2001. The enteric nervous system of echinoderms: Unexpected complexity revealed by neurochemical analysis. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 204:865–873.
- Ghisaura, S., Loi, B., Biosa, G., Baroli, M., Pagnozzi, D., Roggio, T., Uzzau, S., Anedda, R. and M.F. Addis. 2016. Proteomic changes occurring along gonad maturation in the edible sea urchin *Paracentrotus lividus*. *Journal of Proteomics* 144:63–72.
- Gianguzza, P. and C. Bonaviri. 2013. Chapter 19: Arbacia. In Developments in Aquaculture and Fisheries Science, Sea Urchins: Biology and Ecology, ed. J.M. Lawrence, 275–283. Elsevier, London UK.
- Gibson, A.W. and R.D. Burke. 1985. The origin of pigment cells in embryos of the sea urchin *Strongylocentrotus purpuratus*. *Developmental Biology* 107:414–419.
- Gilbert, S.F. 2006. *Developmental Biology*, eighth ed. Sinauer Associates Inc., Sunderland, MA, USA.
- Gildor, T., Malik, A., Sher, N., Avraham, L. and S. Ben-Tabou de-Leon. 2016. Quantitative developmental transcriptomes of the Mediterranean sea urchin *Paracentrotus lividus. Marine Genomics* 25:89–94.
- Gillard, G.B., Garama, D.J. and C.M. Brown. 2014. The transcriptome of the NZ endemic sea urchin Kina (*Evechinus chloroticus*). *BMC Genomics* 15:45.
- Goldstein, B. and G. Freeman. 1997. Axis specification in animal development. *Bioessays* 19:105–116.
- González-Irusta, J.M., Goñi de Cerio, F. and J.C. Canteras. 2010. Reproductive cycle of the sea urchin *Paracentrotus lividus* in the Cantabrian Sea (Northern Spain): Environmental effects. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom* 90:699–709.
- Gross, P.R. and G.H. Cousineau. 1963. Effects of actinomycin D on macromolecule synthesis and early development in sea urchin eggs. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 10:321–326.
- Gross, P.R., Malkin, L.I. and W.A. Moyer. 1964. Templates for the first proteins of embryonic development. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 51:407–414.
- Guillou, M. and L.J.L. Lumingas. 1998. The reproductive cycle of the 'blunt' sea urchin. Aquaculture International 6:147–160.
- Guillou, M. and C. Michel. 1993. Reproduction and growth of Sphaerechinus granularis (Echinodermata: Echinoidea) in Southern Brittany. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 73:179–192.
- Gustafson, T. and H. Kinnander. 1956. Microaquaria for timelapse cinematographic studies of morphogenesis in swimming larvae and observations on sea urchin gastrulation. *Experimental Cell Research* 11:36–51.
- Gustafson, T. and L. Wolpert. 1967. Cellular movement and contact in sea urchin morphogenesis. *Biological Reviews* 42:442–498.
- Gustafson, T. and L. Wolpert. 1963. Studies on the cellular basis of morphogenesis in the sea urchin embryo: Formation of the coelom, the mouth, and the primary pore-canal. *Experimental Cell Research* 29:561–582.
- Hakim, J.A., Koo, H., Kumar, R., Lefkowitz, E.J., Morrow, C.D., Powell, M.L., Watts, S.A. and A.K. Bej. 2016. The gut microbiome of the sea urchin, *Lytechinus variegatus*, from its natural habitat demonstrates selective attributes of microbial taxa and predictive metabolic profiles. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology* 92:146–157.
- Haley, S.A. and G.M. Wessel. 1999. The cortical granule serine protease CGSP1 of the sea urchin, *Strongylocentrotus*

*purpuratus*, is autocatalytic and contains a low-density lipoprotein receptor-like domain. *Developmental Biology* 211:1–10.

- Hall, H.G. and V.D. Vacquier. 1982. The apical lamina of the sea urchin embryo: Major glycoproteins associated with the hyaline layer. *Developmental Biology* 89:168–178.
- Hamdoun, A., Schrankel, C.S., Nesbit, K.T. and J.A. Espinoza. 2018. Sea urchins as lab animals for reproductive and developmental biology. *Encyclopedia of Reproduction* 6:696–703.
- Hara, Y., Kuraishi, R., Uemura, I. and H. Katow. 2003. Asymmetric formation and possible function of the primary pore canal in plutei of *Temnopleurus hardwicki*. *Development, Growth & Differentiation* 45:295–308.
- Hardin, J. 1989. Local shifts in position and polarized motility drive cell rearrangement during sea urchin gastrulation. *Developmental Biology* 136:430–445.
- Hardin, J. 1988. The role of secondary mesenchyme cells during sea urchin gastrulation studied by laser ablation. *Development* 103:317–324.
- Hardin, J. and D.R. McClay. 1990. Target recognition by the archenteron during sea urchin gastrulation. *Developmental Biology* 142:86–102.
- Hertwig, O. 1876. Beitrage zur Erkenntnis der Bildung, Befruchtung, und Theilung des tierischen Eies. *Morphologisches Jahrbuch* 1:347–352.
- Hibino, T., Minokawa, T. and A. Yamazaki. 2019. Chapter 4: Cidaroids, clypeasteroids, and spatangoids: Procurement, culture, and basic methods. In *Methods in Cell Biology: Echinoderms, Part B*, ed. A. Hamdoun and K.R. Foltz, 150:81–103. Elsevier; Academic Press, London UK.
- Himmelman, J.H. 1978. Reproductive cycle of the green sea urchin, Strongylocentrotus droebachiensis. Canadian Journal of Zoology 56:1828–1836.
- Hinman, V.F. and R.D. Burke. 2018. Embryonic neurogenesis in echinoderms. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews. Developmental Biology 7:e316.
- Hogan, J.D., Keenan, J.L., Luo, L., Ibn-Salem, J., Lamba, A., Schatzberg, D., Piacentino, M.L., Zuch, D.T., Core, A.B., Blumberg, C., Timmermann, B., Grau, J.H., Speranza, E., Andrade-Navarro, M.A., Irie, N., Poustka, A.J. and C.A. Bradham. 2020. The developmental transcriptome for *Lytechinus variegatus* exhibits temporally punctuated gene expression changes. *Developmental Biology* 460:139–154.
- Horstadius, S. 1939. The mechanics of sea urchin development, studied by operative methods. *Biological Reviews* 14:132–179.
- Horton, T., Kroh, A., Ahyong, S., Bailly, N., Boyko, C.B., et al. 2020. World Register of Marine Species (WoRMS). https:// doi.org/10.14284/170.
- Houk, M.S. and R.T. Hinegardner. 1980. The formation and early differentiation of sea urchin gonads. *The Biological Bulletin* 159:280–294.
- Hultin, T. 1961. The effect of puromycin on protein metabolism and cell division in fertilized sea urchin eggs. *Experientia* 17:410–411.
- Humphreys, T. 1969. Efficiency of translation of messenger-RNA before and after fertilization in sea urchins. *Developmental Biology* 20:435–458.
- Hunt, T. 2002. Nobel lecture: Protein synthesis, proteolysis, and cell cycle transitions. *Bioscience Reports* 22:465–486.
- Hyman, L.H. 1955. *The invertebrates, echinodermata* (4). McGraw-Hill Education, New York, NY.
- Ishimoda-Takagi, T., Chino, I. and H. Sato. 1984. Evidence for the involvement of muscle tropomyosin in the contractile

elements of the coelom-esophagus complex in sea urchin embryos. *Developmental Biology* 105:365–376.

- Israel, J.W., Martik, M.L., Byrne, M., Raff, E.C., Raff, R.A., McClay, D.R. and G.A. Wray. 2016. Comparative developmental transcriptomics reveals rewiring of a highly conserved gene regulatory network during a major life history switch in the sea urchin genus *Heliocidaris*. *PLoS Biology* 14:e1002391.
- Janies, D.A., Witter, Z., Linchangco, G.V., Foltz, D.W., Miller, A.K., Kerr, A.M., Jay, J., Reid, R.W. and G.A. Wray. 2016. EchinoDB, an application for comparative transcriptomics of deeply-sampled clades of echinoderms. *BMC Bioinformatics* 17:48.
- Just, E.E. 1939. *The Biology of the Cell Surface*. The Technical Press LTD; Ave Maria Lane, Ludgate Hill, E.C., London.
- Just, E.E. 1919. The fertilization reaction in *Echinarachnius parma*: I. Cortical response of the egg to insemination. *The Biological Bulletin* 36:110.
- Kahil, K., Varsano, N., Sorrentino, A., Pereiro, E., Rez, P., Weiner, S. and L. Addadi. 2020. Cellular pathways of calcium transport and concentration toward mineral formation in sea urchin larvae. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 117:30957–30965.
- Kedes, L.H., Chang, A.C.Y., Houseman, D. and S.N. Cohen. 1975. Isolation of histone genes from unfractionated sea urchin DNA by subculture cloning in E. coli. *Nature* 255:533–538.
- Kimberly, E.L. and J. Hardin. 1998. Bottle cells are required for the initiation of primary invagination in the sea urchin embryo. *Developmental Biology* 204:235–250.
- Kinjo, S., Kiyomoto, M., Yamamoto, T., Ikeo, K. and S. Yaguchi. 2018. HpBase: A genome database of a sea urchin, *Hemicentrotus pulcherrimus. Development, Growth & Differentiation* 60:174–182.
- Kipryushina, Y.O. and K.V. Yakovlev. 2020. Maternal control of early patterning in sea urchin embryos. *Differentiation* 113:28–37.
- Kiyomoto, M., Hamanaka, G., Hirose, M. and M. Yamaguchi. 2014. Preserved echinoderm gametes as a useful and readyto-use bioassay material. *Marine Environmental Research* 93:102–105.
- Kominami, T. and Takata. 2004. Gastrulation in the sea urchin embryo: A model system for analyzing the morphogenesis of a monolayered epithelium. *Development, Growth & Differentiation* 46:309–326.
- Kroh, A. and A.B. Smith. 2010. The phylogeny and classification of post-Palaeozoic echinoids. *Journal of Systematic Palaeontology* 8:147–212.
- Kudtarkar, P. and R.A. Cameron. 2017. Echinobase: An expanding resource for echinoderm genomic information. *Database* 2017:bax074.
- Kuroda, R., Kontani, K., Kanda, Y., Katada, T., Nakano, T., Satoh, Y., Suzuki, N. and H. Kuroda. 2001. Increase of cGMP, cADP-ribose and inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate preceding Ca<sup>2+</sup> transients in fertilization of sea urchin eggs. *Development* 128:4405–4414.
- Lane, M.C., Koehl, M.A., Wilt, F. and R. Keller. 1993. A role for regulated secretion of apical extracellular matrix during epithelial invagination in the sea urchin. *Development* 117:1049–1060.
- Lapraz, F., Besnardeau, L. and T. Lepage. 2009. Patterning of the dorsal-ventral axis in echinoderms: Insights into the evolution of the BMP-chordin signaling network. *PLoS Biology* 7:e1000248.
- Láruson, Á.J. 2017. Rates and relations of mitochondrial genome evolution across the Echinoidea, with special focus on

the superfamily Odontophora. *Ecology and Evolution* 7:4543–4551.

- Leigh, S.J., Bowen, J., Purssell, C.P., Covington, J.A., Billson, D.R. and D.A. Hutchins. 2012. Rapid manufacture of monolithic micro-actuated forceps inspired by echinoderm pedicellariae. *Bioinspiration & Biomimetics* 7:044001.
- Lepage, T., Ghiglione, C. and C. Gache. 1992a. Spatial and temporal expression pattern during sea urchin embryogenesis of a gene coding for a protease homologous to the human protein BMP-1 and to the product of the *Drosophila* dorsal-ventral patterning gene tolloid. *Development* 114:147–163.
- Lepage, T., Sardet, C. and C. Gache, C. 1992b. Spatial expression of the hatching enzyme gene in the sea urchin embryo. *Developmental Biology* 150:23–32.
- Lessios, H.A. 1990. Adaptation and phylogeny as determinants of egg size in echinoderms from the two sides of the isthmus of panama. *The American Naturalist* 135:1–13.
- Lessios, H.A. 1988. Temporal and spatial variation in egg size of 13 Panamanian echinoids. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology* 114:217–239.
- Levitan, D.R. 1993. The importance of sperm limitation to the evolution of egg size in marine invertebrates. *The American Naturalist* 141:517–536.
- Li, E., Cui, M., Peter, I.S. and E.H. Davidson. 2014. Encoding regulatory state boundaries in the pregastrular oral ectoderm of the sea urchin embryo. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America 111:E906–E913.
- Lin, C.-Y. and Y.-H. Su. 2016. Genome editing in sea urchin embryos by using a CRISPR/Cas9 system. *Developmental Biology* 409:420–428.
- Loeb, J. 1899. On the nature of the process of fertilization and the artificial production of normal larvæ (plutei) from the unfertilized eggs of the sea urchin. *American Journal of Physiology* 3:135–138.
- Logan, C.Y., Miller, J.R., Ferkowicz, M.J. and D.R. McClay. 1999. Nuclear beta-catenin is required to specify vegetal cell fates in the sea urchin embryo. *Development* 126:345–357.
- Longo, F.J. and E. Anderson. 1968. The fine structure of pronuclear development and fusion in the sea urchin, *Arbacia punctulata*. *The Journal of Cell Biology* 39:339–368.
- Longo, F.J. and W. Plunkett. 1973. The onset of DNA synthesis and its relation to morphogenetic events of the pronuclei in activated eggs of the sea urchin, *Arbacia punctulata*. *Developmental Biology* 30:56–67.
- Lowe, C.J., Clarke, D.N., Medeiros, D.M., Rokhsar, D.S. and J. Gerhart. 2015. The deuterostome context of chordate origins. *Nature* 520:456–465.
- Luo, Y.-J. and Y.-H. Su. 2012. Opposing nodal and BMP signals regulate left right asymmetry in the sea urchin larva. *PLoS Biol* 10:e1001402.
- Maderspacher, F. 2008. Theodor Boveri and the natural experiment. *Current Biology* 18:R279–R286.
- Malinda, K.M. and C.A Ettensohn. 1994. Primary mesenchyme cell migration in the sea urchin embryo: Distribution of directional cues. *Developmental Biology* 164:562–578.
- Malumbres, M. 2014. Cyclin-dependent kinases. *Genome Biology* 15:122.
- Martik, M.L., Lyons, D.C. and D.R. McClay. 2016. Developmental gene regulatory networks in sea urchins and what we can learn from them. *F1000Research* 5:203.
- Martik, M.L. and D.R. McClay. 2017. New insights from a highresolution look at gastrulation in the sea urchin, *Lytechinus* variegatus. Mechanisms of Development 148:3–10.
- Maruyama, Y.K., Nakaseko, Y. and S. Yagi. 1985. Localization of cytoplasmic determinants responsible for primary

mesenchyme formation and gastrulation in the unfertilized egg of the sea urchin *Hemicentrotus pulcherrimus*. *Journal of Experimental Zoology* 236:155–163.

- Mazia, D. 1937. The release of calcium in Arbacia eggs on fertilization. *Journal of Cellular and Comparative Physiology* 10:291–304.
- McAlister, J.S. and A.L. Moran. 2012. Relationships among egg size, composition, and energy: A comparative study of geminate sea urchins. *PLoS One* 7:e41599.
- McClintock, J.B., Amsler, M.O., Angus, R.A., Challener, R.C., Schram, J.B., Amsler, C.D., Mah, C.L., Cuce, J. and B.J. Baker. 2011. The Mg-calcite composition of Antarctic echinoderms: Important implications for predicting the impacts of ocean acidification. *The Journal of Geology* 119:457–466.
- Meidel, S.K. and R.E. Scheibling. 1998. Annual reproductive cycle of the green sea urchin, *Strongylocentrotus droebachiensis*, in differing habitats in Nova Scotia, Canada. *Marine Biology* 131:461–478.
- Meves, F. 1912. Verfolgung des sogenannten Mittelstückes des Echinidenspermiums im befruchteten Ei bis zum Ende der ersten Furchungstheilung. [Tracking of the so-called middle section of the echinid sperm in the fertilized egg until the end of the first cleavage division]. Archiv für mikroskopische Anatomie 80:811–823.
- Minokawa, T. 2017. Comparative studies on the skeletogenic mesenchyme of echinoids. *Developmental Biology* 427:212–218.
- Mironov, A.N. 2008. Pourtalesiid sea urchins (Echinodermata: Echinoidea) of the northern Mid-Atlantic Ridge. *Marine Biology Research* 4:3–24.
- Mironov, A.N., Dilman, A.B., Vladychenskaya, I.P. and N.B. Petrov. 2016. Adaptive strategy of the Porcellanasterid sea stars. *Biology Bulletin Russian Academic Science* 43:503–516.
- Mironov, A.N., Minin, K.V. and A.B. Dilman. 2015. Abyssal echinoid and asteroid fauna of the North Pacific. *Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography* 111:357–375.
- Mironov, A.N., Minin, K.V. and A.V. Kremenetskaia. 2019. Two new genera of the family Myriotrochidae (Echinodermata, Holothuroidea). *Progress in Oceanography* 178:102195.
- Molina, M.D., de Crozé, N., Haillot, E. and T. Lepage. 2013. Nodal: Master and commander of the dorsalventral and left-right axes in the sea urchin embryo. *Current Opinion in Genetics* & *Development* 23:445–453.
- Molina, M.D., Gache, C. and T. Lepage. 2019. Expression of exogenous mRNAs to study gene function in echinoderm embryos. In *Methods in Cell Biology: Echinoderms, Part B*, ed. A. Hamdoun and K.R. Foltz, 150:239–282. Elsevier; Academic Press, London UK.
- Molina, M.D., Quirin, M., Haillot, E., Jimenez, F., Chessel, A. and T. Lepage. 2017. p38 MAPK as an essential regulator of dorsal-ventral axis specification and skeletogenesis during sea urchin development: A re-evaluation. *Development* 144:2270–2281.
- Mongiardino Koch, N., Coppard, S.E., Lessios, H.A., Briggs, D.E.G., Mooi, R. and G.W. Rouse. 2018. A phylogenomic resolution of the sea urchin tree of life. *BMC Evolutionary Biology* 18:189.
- Monroy, A. 1986. A centennial debt of developmental biology to the sea urchin. *The Biological Bulletin* 171:509–519.
- Morales, J., Mulner-Lorillon, O., Cosson, B., Morin, E., Belle, R., Bradham, C.A., Beane, W.S. and P. Cormier. 2006. Translational control genes in the sea urchin genome. *Developmental Biology* 300:293–307.

- Morgan, A.J. 2011. Sea urchin eggs in the acid reign. Cell Calcium 50:147–156.
- Mulner-Lorillon, O., Chassé, H., Morales, J., Belle, R. and P. Cormier. 2017. MAPK/ERK activity is required for the successful progression of mitosis in sea urchin embryos. *Developmental Biology* 421:194–203.
- Mulochau, T., Conand, C., Stöhr, S., Eléaume, M. and P. Chabanet. 2014. First inventory of the echinoderms from Juan de Nova (Iles Eparses, France) in the Mozambique Channel, south western Indian Ocean. Western Indian Ocean Journal of Marine Science 13:23–30.
- Nesbit, K.T., Fleming, T., Batzel, G., Pouv, A., Rosenblatt, H.D., Pace, D.A., Hamdoun, A. and D.C. Lyons. 2019. The painted sea urchin, *Lytechinus pictus*, as a genetically-enabled developmental model. In *Methods in Cell Biology: Echinoderms*, *Part A*, ed. A. Hamdoun and K.R. Foltz, 150:105–123. Elsevier; Academic Press, London UK.
- Oji, T., Ogawa, Y., Hunter, A.W. and K. Kitazawa, K. 2009. Discovery of dense aggregations of stalked crinoids in Izu-Ogasawara Trench, Japan. *Zoological Science* 26:406–408.
- Okazaki, K. 1975. Spicule formation by isolated micromeres of the sea urchin embryo. *American Zoologist* 15:567–581.
- Oliveri, P. and E.H. Davidson. 2004. Gene regulatory network controlling embryonic specification in the sea urchin. *Current Opinion in Genetics & Development* 14:351–360.
- Oliveri, P., Tu, Q. and E.H. Davidson. 2008. Global regulatory logic for specification of an embryonic cell lineage. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 105:5955–5962.
- Oulhen, N. and G.M. Wessel. 2016. Albinism as a visual, in vivo guide for CRISPR/Cas9 functionality in the sea urchin embryo: Albinism as a visual metric for gene disruption in the sea urchin. *Molecular Reproduction and Development* 83:1046–1047.
- Ouréns, R., Fernández, L. and J. Freire. 2011. Geographic, population, and seasonal patterns in the reproductive parameters of the sea urchin *Paracentrotus lividus*. *Marine Biology* 158:793–804.
- Pace, D.A., Maxson, R. and D.T. Manahan. 2010. Ribosomal analysis of rapid rates of protein synthesis in the Antarctic sea urchin *Sterechinus neumayeri*. *The Biological Bulletin* 218:48–60.
- Pagett, R.M. 1981. The penetration of brackish-water by the echinodermata. In *Feeding and Survival Stategies of Estuarine Organisms*, ed N. V. Jones and W. J. Wolff, 135–151. Marine Science. Springer US, Boston, MA.
- Parrington, J., Davis, L.C., Galione, A. and G. Wessel. 2007. Flipping the switch: How a sperm activates the egg at fertilization. *Developmental Dynamics* 236:2027–2038.
- Pederson, T. 2006. The sea urchin's siren. *Developmental Biology* 300:9–14.
- Peter, I.S. and E.H. Davidson. 2011. A gene regulatory network controlling the embryonic specification of endoderm. *Nature* 474:635–639.
- Peter, I.S. and E.H. Davidson. 2010. The endoderm gene regulatory network in sea urchin embryos up to mid-blastula stage. *Developmental Biology* 340:188–199.
- Peterson, R.E. and D.R. McClay. 2003. Primary mesenchyme cell patterning during the early stages following ingression. *Developmental Biology* 254:68–78.
- Pomin, V.H. 2015. Sulfated glycans in sea urchin fertilization. *Glycoconjugate Journal* 32:9–15.
- Poon, J., Fries, A., Wessel, G.M. and M. Yajima. 2019. Evolutionary modification of AGS protein contributes to formation of micromeres in sea urchins. *Nature Communications* 10:3779.

- Power, M.E., Tilman, D., Estes, J.A., Menge, B.A., Bond, W.J., Mills, L.S., Daily, G., Castilla, J.C., Lubchenco, J. and R.T. Paine. 1996. Challenges in the quest for keystones: Identifying keystone species is difficult: But essential to understanding how loss of species will affect ecosystems. *BioScience* 46:609–620.
- Price, A.R.G. and F.W.E. Rowe. 1996. Indian Ocean echinoderms collected during the Sindbad Voyage (1980–81): 3. Ophiuroidea and echinoidea. *Bulletin of the Natural History Museum: Zoology Series* 62:71–82.
- Raff, R.A. 1987. Constraint, flexibility, and phylogenetic history in the evolution of direct development in sea urchins. *Developmental Biology* 119:6–19.
- Raff, R.A. and M. Byrne. 2006. The active evolutionary lives of echinoderm larvae. *Heredity* 97:244–252.
- Ramos, I. and G.M. Wessel. 2013. Calcium pathway machinery at fertilization in echinoderms. *Cell Calcium* 53:16–23.
- Ransick, A. and E.H. Davidson. 2012. Cis-regulatory logic driving glial cells missing: Self-sustaining circuitry in later embryogenesis. *Developmental Biology* 364:259–267.
- Ransick, A. and E.H. Davidson. 2006. Cis-regulatory processing of Notch signaling input to the sea urchin glial cells missing gene during mesoderm specification. *Developmental Biology* 297:587–602.
- Reich, A., Dunn, C., Akasaka, K. and G. Wessel. 2015. Phylogenomic analyses of echinodermata support the sister groups of asterozoa and echinozoa. *PLoS One* 10:e0119627.
- Rocha, F., Rocha, A.C., Baião, L.F., Gadelha, J., Camacho, C., Carvalho, M.L., Arenas, F., Oliveira, A., Maia, M.R.G., Cabrita, A.R., Pintado, M., Nunes, M.L., Almeida, C.M.R. and L.M.P. Valente. 2019. Seasonal effect in nutritional quality and safety of the wild sea urchin *Paracentrotus lividus* harvested in the European Atlantic shores. *Food Chemistry* 282:84–94.
- Romiguier, J., Gayral, P., Ballenghien, M., Bernard, A., Cahais, V., Chenuil, A., Chiari, Y., Dernat, R., Duret, L., Faivre, N., Loire, E., Lourenco, J.M., Nabholz, B., Roux, C., Tsagkogeorga, G., Weber, A.A.-T., Weinert, L.A., Belkhir, K., Bierne, N., Glémin, S. and N. Galtier. 2014. Comparative population genomics in animals uncovers the determinants of genetic diversity. *Nature* 515:261–263.
- Rowe, F. and M. Richmond. 2004. A preliminary account of the shallow-water echinoderms of Rodrigues, Mauritius, Western Indian Ocean. *Journal of Natural History* 38:3273–3314.
- Runcie, D.E., Dorey, N., Garfield, D.A., Stumpp, M., Dupont, S. and G.A. Wray. 2017. Genomic characterization of the evolutionary potential of the sea urchin *Strongylocentrotus droebachiensis* facing ocean acidification. *Genome Biology and Evolution* 8:3672–3684.
- Runft, L.L., Jaffe, L.A. and L.M. Mehlmann. 2002. Egg activation at fertilization: Where it all begins. *Developmental Biology* 245:237–254.
- Santella, L., Vasilev, F. and J.T. Chun. 2012. Fertilization in echinoderms. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 425:588–594.
- Sardet, C. 1984. The ultrastructure of the sea urchin egg cortex isolated before and after fertilization. *Developmental Biology* 105:196–210.
- Sardet, C. and P. Chang. 1985. A marker of animal-vegetal polarity in the egg of the sea urchin *Paracentrotus lividus*. *Experimental Cell Research* 160:73–82.
- Sardet, C., Roegiers, F., Dumollard, R., Rouviere, C. and A. McDougall. 1998. Calcium waves and oscillations in eggs. *Biophysical Chemistry* 72:131–140.

- Saudemont, A., Haillot, E., Mekpoh, F., Bessodes, N., Quirin, M., Lapraz, F., Duboc, V., Röttinger, E., Range, R., Oisel, A., Besnardeau, L., Wincker, P. and T. Lepage. 2010. Ancestral regulatory circuits governing ectoderm patterning downstream of nodal and BMP2/4 revealed by gene regulatory network analysis in an echinoderm. *PLOS Genetics* 6:e1001259.
- Schatten, G. 1981. The movements and fusion of the pronuclei at fertilization of the sea urchin *Lytechinus variegatus*: Time-lapse video microscopy. *Journal of Morphology* 167:231–247.
- Schatten, G. and D. Mazia, D. 1976. The penetration of the spermatozoon through the sea urchin egg surface at fertilization: Observations from the outside on whole eggs and from the inside on isolated surfaces. *Experimental Cell Research* 98:325–337.
- Scheer, U. 2018. Boveri's research at the Zoological Station Naples: Rediscovery of his original microscope slides at the University of Würzburg. *Marine Genomics* 40:1–8.
- Schmidt, G., Hecht, L. and S.J. Thannhauser. 1948. The behavior of the nucleic acids during the early development of the sea urchin egg (Arbacia). *The Journal of General Physiology* 31:203–207.
- Schroeder, T.E. 1980. Expressions of the prefertilization polar axis in sea urchin eggs. *Developmental Biology* 79:428–443.
- Sea Urchin Genome Sequencing Consortium, Sodergren, E., Weinstock, G.M., Davidson, E.H., et al. The genome of the sea urchin *Strongylocentrotus purpuratus*. *Science* 314:941–952.
- SeGall, G.K. and W.J. Lennarz. 1979. Chemical characterization of the component of the jelly coat from sea urchin eggs responsible for induction of the acrosome reaction. *Developmental Biology* 71:33–48.
- Sherwood, D.R. and D.R. McClay. 1999. LvNotch signaling mediates secondary mesenchyme specification in the sea urchin embryo. *Development* 126:1703–1713.
- Sherwood, D.R. and D.R. McClay. 1997. Identification and localization of a sea urchin Notch homologue: Insights into vegetal plate regionalization and Notch receptor regulation. *Development* 124:3363–3374.
- Simakov, O., Kawashima, T., Marlétaz, F., et al. 2015. Hemichordate genomes and deuterostome origins. *Nature* 527:459–465.
- Sluder, G. 2016. Using sea urchin gametes and zygotes to e centrosome duplication. *Cilia* 5:20.
- Smirnov, A. 1994. Arctic echinoderms: Composition distribution and history of the fauna. In *Echinoderms through Time*, ed. B. David, A. Guille, J.P. Féral and M. Roux, 135–143. A.A. Balkema, Rotterdam, Brookfield.
- Smith, A.B. and S. Zamora. 2013. Cambrian spiral-plated echinoderms from Gondwana reveal the earliest pentaradial body plan. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B* 280:20131197.
- Smith, M.M., Smith, L.C., Cameron, R.A. and L.A. Urry. 2008. The larval stages of the sea urchin, *Strongylocentrotus purpuratus. Journal of Morphology* 269:713–733.
- Sodergren, E., Shen, Y., Song, X., Zhang, L., Gibbs, R.A. and G.M. Weinstock. 2006. Shedding genomic light on Aristotle's lantern. *Developmental Biology* 300:2–8.
- Song, J.L., Wong, J.L. and G.M. Wessel. 2006. Oogenesis: Single cell development and differentiation. *Developmental Biology* 300:385–405.
- Stanwell-Smith, D. and L.S. Peck. 1998. Temperature and embryonic development in relation to spawning and field occurrence of larvae of three Antarctic echinoderms. *The Biological Bulletin* 194:44–52.
- Starr, M., Himmelman, J.H. and J.-C. Therriault. 1990. Direct coupling of marine invertebrate spawning with phytoplankton blooms. *Science* 247:1071–1074.

- Steinhardt, R.A. and D. Epel. 1974. Activation of sea-urchin eggs by a calcium ionophore. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 71:1915–1919.
- Steinhardt, R.A., Zucker, R. and G. Schatten. 1977. Intracellular calcium release at fertilization in the sea urchin egg. *Developmental Biology* 58:185–196.
- Stephens, L., Hardin, J., Keller, R. and F. Wilt. 1986. The effects of aphidicolin on morphogenesis and differentiation in the sea urchin embryo. *Developmental Biology* 118:64–69.
- Stepicheva, N.A. and J.L. Song. 2014. High throughput microinjections of sea urchin zygotes. *Journal of Visualized Experiments JoVE* e50841.
- Su, Y.-H., Li, E., Geiss, G.K., Longabaugh, W.J.R., Krämer, A. and E.H. Davidson. 2009. A perturbation model of the gene regulatory network for oral and aboral ectoderm specification in the sea urchin embryo. *Developmental Biology* 329:410–421.
- Summers, R.G. and B.L. Hylander. 1974. An ultrastructural analysis of early fertilization in the sand dollar, *Echinarachnius* parma. Cell and Tissue Research 150:343–368.
- Suzuki, H. and S. Yaguchi. 2018. Transforming growth factor-β signal regulates gut bending in the sea urchin embryo. *Development, Growth & Differenciation* 60:216–225.
- Swann, K. and F.A. Lai. 2016. Egg activation at fertilization by a soluble sperm protein. *Physiologycal Reviews* 96:127–149.
- Swartz, S.Z. and G.M. Wessel. 2015. Germ line versus soma in the transition from egg to embryo. *Current Topics in Developmental Biology* 113:149–190.
- Sweet, H.C., Gehring, M. and C.A. Ettensohn. 2002. LvDelta is a mesoderm-inducing signal in the sea urchin embryo and can endow blastomeres with organizer-like properties. *Development* 129:1945–1955.
- Tamboline, C.R. and R.D. Burke. 1992. Secondary mesenchyme of the sea urchin embryo: Ontogeny of blastocoelar cells. *Journal of Experimental Zoology* 262:51–60.
- Telford, M.J., Lowe, C.J., Cameron, C.B., Ortega-Martinez, O., Aronowicz, J., Oliveri, P. and R.R. Copley. 2014. Phylogenomic analysis of echinoderm class relationships supports Asterozoa. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B* 281:20140479.
- Terasaki, M. and C. Sardet. 1991. Demonstration of calcium uptake and release by sea urchin egg cortical endoplasmic reticulum. *Journal of Cell Biology* 115:1031–1037.
- Thieffry, D. and R.M. Burian. 1996. Jean Brachet's alternative scheme for protein synthesis. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* 21:114–117.
- Tilney, L.G. and L.A. Jaffe. 1980. Actin, microvilli, and the fertilization cone of sea urchin eggs. *The Journal of Cell Biology* 87:771–782.
- Topper, T.P., Guo, J., Clausen, S., Skovsted, C.B. and Z. Zhang. 2019. A stem group echinoderm from the basal Cambrian of China and the origins of Ambulacraria. *Nature Communications* 10:1366.
- Tu, Q., Cameron, R.A. and E.H. Davidson. 2014. Quantitative developmental transcriptomes of the sea urchin *Strongylocentrotus* purpuratus. Developmental Biology 385:160–167.
- Uthicke, S., Schaffelke, B. and M. Byrne. 2009. A boom: Bust phylum? Ecological and evolutionary consequences of density variations in echinoderms. *Ecological Monographs* 79:3–24.
- Vacquier, V.D. 2012. The quest for the sea urchin egg receptor for sperm. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 425:583–587.

- Vacquier, V.D. 2011. Laboratory on sea urchin fertilization. Molecular Reproduction and Development 78:553–564.
- Vacquier, V.D. 1975. The isolation of intact cortical granules from sea urchin eggs: Calcium lons trigger granule discharge. *Developmental Biology* 43:62–74.
- Vafidis, D., Antoniadou, C. and V. Ioannidi. 2020. Population density, size structure, and reproductive cycle of the comestible sea urchin *Sphaerechinus granularis* (Echinodermata: Echinoidea) in the Pagasitikos Gulf (Aegean Sea). *Animals* 10:1506.
- Venuti, J.M., Pepicelli, C. and Flowers, V.L. 2004. Analysis of sea urchin embryo gene expression by immunocytochemistry. In *Methods* in Cell Biology: Development of Sea Urchins, Ascidians, and Other Invertebrate Deuterostomes: Experimental Approaches, ed. C.A. Ettensohn, G.A. Wray and G.M. Wessel, 74:333–369. Elsevier; Academic Press, London UK.
- Vilela-silva, A.-C.E.S., Hirohashi, N. and P.A.S. Mouro. 2008. The structure of sulfated polysaccharides ensures a carbohydratebased mechanism for species recognition during sea urchin fertilization. *The International Journal of Developmental Biology* 52:551–559.
- von Dassow, G., Valley, J. and K. Robbins. 2019. Microinjection of oocytes and embryos with synthetic mRNA encoding molecular probes. In *Methods in Cell Biology: Echinoderms, Part B*, ed. A. Hamdoun and K.R. Foltz, 150:189–222. Elsevier; Academic Press, London UK.
- Voronina, E. and G.M. Wessel. 2006. Activator of G-protein signaling in asymmetric cell divisions of the sea urchin embryo. *Development, Growth & Differenciation* 48:549–557.
- Walker, C.W., Lesser, M.P. and T. Unuma. 2013. Sea urchin gametogenesis: Structural, functional and molecular/genomic biology. In *Developments in Aquaculture and Fisheries Science: Sea Urchins: Biology and Ecology*, ed. J.M. Lawrence, 38:25–43. Elsevier, London UK.
- Walker, C.W., Unuma, T. and M.P. Lesser. 2007. Chapter 2: Gametogenesis and reproduction of sea urchins. In Developments in Aquaculture and Fisheries Science, Edible Sea Urchins: Biology and Ecology, ed. J.M. Lawrence, 37:11–33. Elsevier, London, UK.
- Warburg, O. 1908. Beobachtungen über die Oxydationsprozesse im Seeigelei. Hoppe-Seyler's Zeitschrift für physiologische Chemie 57:1–16.
- Wessel, G.M., Brayboy, L., Fresques, T., Gustafson, E.A., Oulhen, N., Ramos, I., Reich, A., Swartz, S.Z., Yajima, M. and V. Zazueta. 2014. The biology of the germ line in echinoderms: The germ-cell lineage in echinoderms. *Molecular Reproduction and Development* 81:679–711.
- Wessel, G.M., Kiyomoto, M., Shen, T.-L. and M. Yajima. 2020. Genetic manipulation of the pigment pathway in a sea urchin reveals distinct lineage commitment prior to metamorphosis in the bilateral to radial body plan transition. *Scientific Reports* 10:1973.
- Wessel, G.M., Zhang, W. and W.H. Klein. 1990. Myosin heavy chain accumulates in dissimilar cell types of the macromere lineage in the sea urchin embryo. *Developmental Biology* 140:447–454.
- Whitaker, M.J. 2006. Calcium at fertilization and in early development. *Physiological Reviews* 86:25–88.
- Whitaker, M.J. and R.A. Steinhardt. 1982. Ionic regulation of egg activation. *Quaterly Reviews of Biophysics* 15:593–666.
- Wikramanayake, A.H., Huang, L. and W.H. Klein. 1998. β-catenin is essential for patterning the maternally specified animalvegetal axis in the sea urchin embryo. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 95:9343–9348.
- Wikramanayake, A.H., Peterson, R., Chen, J., Huang, L., Bince, J.M., McClay, D.R. and W.H. Klein. 2004. Nuclear
  ß-catenin-

dependent Wnt8 signaling in vegetal cells of the early sea urchin embryo regulates gastrulation and differentiation of endoderm and mesodermal cell lineages. *Genesis* 39:194–205.

- Wong, J.L., Créton, R. and G.M. Wessel. 2004. The oxidative burst at fertilization is dependent upon activation of the dual oxidase udx1. *Developmental Cell* 7:801–814.
- Wong, J.M., Gaitán-Espitia, J.D. and G.E. Hofmann. 2019. Transcriptional profiles of early stage red sea urchins (*Mesocentrotus franciscanus*) reveal differential regulation of gene expression across development. *Marine Genomics* 48:100692.
- Wood, N.J., Mattiello, T., Rowe, M.L., Ward, L., Perillo, M., Arnone, M.I., Elphick, M.R. and P. Oliveri. 2018. Neuropeptidergic systems in pluteus larvae of the sea urchin *Strongylocentrotus purpuratus*: Neurochemical complexity in a "simple" nervous system. *Frontiers in Endocrinology* 9:628.
- Wygoda, J.A., Yang, Y., Byrne, M. and G.A. Wray. 2014. Transcriptomic analysis of the highly derived radial body plan of a sea urchin. *Genome Biology and Evolution* 6:964–973.
- Yaguchi, S., Yaguchi, J., Suzuki, H., Kinjo, S., Kiyomoto, M., Ikeo, K. and T. Yamamoto. 2020. Establishment of homozygous knock-out sea urchins. *Current Biology* 30:R427–R429.
- Yajima, M. and G.M. Wessel. 2012. Autonomy in specification of primordial germ cells and their passive translocation in the sea urchin. *Development* 139:3786–3794.

- Yajima, M. and G.M. Wessel. 2011. Small micromeres contribute to the germline in the sea urchin. *Development* 138:237–243.
- Yoshimura, K., Iketani, T. and T. Motokawa. 2012. Do regular sea urchins show preference in which part of the body they orient forward in their walk? *Marine Biology* 159:959–965.
- Yu, L., Yan, M., Sui, J., Sheng, W.-Q. and Z.-F. Zhang. 2013. Gonadogenesis and expression pattern of the vasa gene in the sea cucumber *Apostichopus japonicus* during early development. *Molecular Reproduction and Development* 80:744–752.
- Zamora, S., Lefebvre, B., Javier Álvaro, J., Clausen, S., Elicki, O., Fatka, O., Jell, P., Kouchinsky, A., Lin, J.-P., Nardin, E., Parsley, R., Rozhnov, S., Sprinkle, J., Sumrall, C.D., Vizcaïno, D. and A.B. Smith. 2013. Chapter 13 Cambrian echinoderm diversity and palaeobiogeography. *Geological Society, London, Memoirs* 38:157–171.
- Zhang, Q.Y., Tamura, M., Uetake, Y., Washitani-Nemoto, S. and S. Nemoto. 2004. Regulation of the paternal inheritance of centrosomes in starfish zygotes. *Developmental Biology* 266:190–200.
- Ziegler, A., Mooi, R., Rolet, G. and C. De Ridder. 2010. Origin and evolutionary plasticity of the gastric caecum in sea urchins (Echinodermata: Echinoidea). *BMC Evolutionary Biology* 10:313.